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This saltglazed stoneware fieldjug, circa 1880, was given
to the Museum & Society throughthe bequestofdie late
John R.Montgomery, along with 14 otheritems, all with a
history ofuse and/orproduction in W estern Virginia. This
“presentation piece” is inscribed “made by W.J. W ooten,
Zenobia, Virginia,” and onthe reverse “Dr. N.P. W hite,
Mendota, Virginia” (both towns, Washington County).

Thispairofcastiron andirons, circa 1810-1830, was
donated by MargaretFluke. They were used atFluke’s
TavernnearBlue Ridge in Botetourt County. Founded by
Peter “Flook™ in 1801, the structureremained in use until
1918, whenthe family razed the tavern and builta new
residence. Botetourt County produced large quantities of
iron ore, pig iron and simple castiron throughoutthe 19th
centuxy. The Cloverdale furnaces were in close proxim ity
and aretheirmostlikely source.

A partofthe collection ofworks the
Museum & Society is acquiring forthe
O.Winston Link Museum, this image,
NW 2222, was taken atthe M assey
Minenear Gilbert, WestVirginiaon
March 16th, 1960, less than two months
before the engine, Y6b 2190, was
retired. A colorversion ofthe image was
used onthe coverofLink’s fourth
record album, “Second Pigeon and the
Mockingbird,” issued in 1961.



Note From the Executive Director

The Museum & Society is pleased to presentthis, the 29th issue ofthe Journal, Volume Fifteen,
NumberOne. O fparticularnote, this 2002 issue marks the firstback-to-back annual issuance since those of
1988 and 1989.

The Journal’svery busy Editor’s efforts are even more remarkable in view ofthe factthatduring this
same period, the Museum & Society published Clare W hite’s long anticipated and definitive work, William
Fleming, Patriot.

During this same period, the Museum & Society launched whatis easily its mostambitious and note-
worthy effortin its 45-yearhistory, the O. Winston Link Museum. Once complete, the $2.6 million effortwill
resultin: the appropriate reuse o fthe only public structure inthe Roanoke Valley designed by an individual of
international renown; a greatly enhanced view ofW estem Viiginia’srole in ourregion’shistory and culture; a
broadened and more balancedrole forourinstitution withinthe greaterhistorical community; amore synergis-
tic role within Western Virginia’s historical tourism; a significantincrease in the relevance and utility ofthe
Society’s collections; and, importantly, amore financially stable institution.

W ith the international press and widespread interestthe O. W inston Link Museum Campaign has
received, and the substantial effortbeing putforth to create that success, itis allthe more remarkable thatthe
Museum & Society hasbeen able to maintain a full schedule ofregular lectures, tours, exhibits and more.

Exhibits have included the Virginia M useum o fFine Aiits’Arcadian Monuments, and What Victory
MayMean, the story o fthe only Navy shipnamed foracitizen ofthe Valley,the USS HoraceA. Bass, curated
by Museum staffmemberRoy Baugher IN.

Collection highlightsinclude an importantpair o fandirons from Fluke’s Tavern and a signed piece of
SouthwestVirginiapottery (see facing page).

Recently,on November 1,the Museum & Society led a highly successfuljointeffortwiththe City of
Roanoke, Downtown Roanoke, Inc., Norfolk Southern Corporation, Center inthe Square, the Virginia M u-
seum ofTransportation, Commonwealth Coach and Trolley Museum andthe Roanoke Valley Preservation
Foundationto celebrate the 150th anniversary o fthe seminal arrival o fthe Valley’s firsttrain, the “Roanoke,” in
1852. Asaresult, ahistoric markernow marksthe approximate arrival spotalong downtown Roanoke’s Rail
Walk.

Lookingtowardthe future,thisyearthe Museum & Society was awarded two grants from theVirginia
Foundation forthe Humanities, a rare honor. The firstwill supportthe production ofthe Museum & Society
film Bright Leaf: The Tobacco Culture ofthe Old Belt of Virginia, by Jim Crawford. The second will
supportaMuseum & Society exhibitorganized by AnnaFariello, Movers & Makers: Doris Ulman$ Por-
traito ftheAppalachian CraftRevival. The latterhas also received a grantfrom the Virginia Com mission for
the Arts- afirst-time award forthe Museum & Society.

Itistoyou,the Museum & Society’sindividual, corporate and foundation supporters, volunteers,
participants and visitors, thatthanks be given. Despite difficulttimes, your Museum & Society thrives!

Read and enjoy!

D.KentChrisman
Executive Director



Railroads and Their People: 20th Century
Rail Developmentin Southwest Virginia

By Louis M. Newton

JA\ Ithough proposals were made by western Virginiansto build arailroad as early as 1833, itwas not
\ until 1850thatactual construction wasbegun onthe Virginia & Tennessee Railroad in Lynchburg. The
-A  -Ajouteprogressed across Campbell and Bedford counties, through a comer o fBotetourt, into Roanoke
County, throughthe community ofBig Lick, andby December1852 had reachedthe county seatofSalem.

Workthen continued through the difficultmountainousterrain westto the New Riverand on through
southwestern Virginiato Bristol, onthe Tennessee state line, reached in 1856. By the time ofthe Civil War,
through connections to the eastand west, the Virginia & Tennessee formed part ofathin chain ofrailroads
stretching from Ham pton Roadsto the Mississippi RiveratMemphis.

Some historians are o fthe opinionthatthe existence o fthe Virginia & Tennessee between Lynchburg
and Bristol keptthe southwestern Virginia counties from seceding from the Commonwealth andjoining the
countiesto the north in the formation ofthe state ofW estVirginia. Atany rate, the Virginia & Tennessee and its
connections suffered badly during the war and struggled through the Reconstruction era.

The linesin Virginiawere united afterthe war into the Atlantic, M ississippi & Ohio Railroad, headed
by former Confederate General William Mahone, in 1870. Unfortunately, economic troubles o fthe 1870s
forcedthe AM&O into receivership. In 1881, its properties were acquired by the Clark banking interests of
Philadelphiaand renamed the Norfolk & W estern Railroad. The Clarks also owned the Shenandoah Valley
Railroad, then under construction, and completed itthe following yearto a connection withthe N&W in the
community ofBig Lick in Roanoke County.

M eanw hile, the Clark interests, through the leadership ofFrederick J. Kimball, president ofthe
Shenandoah Valley and avice president—and laterpresident— o fN&W, became interested in reaching the
coalfields along along the Virginia-W estVirginiaborder. By 1883, arailroad line had been built west from
Radfordthroughthe New RiverValleyto Glen Lyn, then along EastRiverand into the coalfields in the Blue-
stone Valley to the town ofPocahontas in Tazewell County. The subsequentrapid developmentofthe coal
industry in the arearesulted in the construction ofanumberofbranch lines and established the Norfolk &
W estern as one ofthe leading coal-carrying railroads in the United States.

Extending toward the southwestfrom Bluefield, Virginia,by 1891, the N&W had constructed a line
throughthe Clinch Valley while the Louisville & Nashville had builteast from Cumberland Gap. The two lines
connected in Wise County atPrince’sFlats, laterrenamed NortoninhonorofL&N President Eckstein Norton.
Inaprojectofeven greaterimportance, the N&W also extended its main line westinto the Ohio River Valley,
and by 1892 had aroute extending from Norfolk all the way to Columbus, Ohio. Itwasthen in a position to
haul coalboth eastandwestoutofthe highly productive Pocahontas coalfields.

The area offar southwestern Virginia, in the counties ofRussell, Dickenson, Wise, Scottand Lee,
attracted anumberofrailroads, including the Louisville & Nashville. In the late 1890s and early 1900s, the
area saw the entrance ofother carriers, including the predecessors o fthe Southern, the Clinchfield and the

Louis M. Newton workedfor the Norfolk & Western and Norfolk Southern railwaysfrom 1950 until
1987, retiring as assistant vice president, Transportation Department. He has written four volumes of
railroad history.
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In the summer of 1897, a Class D 10-wheel steam locomotive pulled a passenger trainload of Norfolk &
Western Railway employees to a meeting at Grottoes in Rockingham County. (History Museum photo)

Interstate, all builtprimarily to tap the coal resources ofthatpart o fthe state. In lateryears, the N&W builtan
extensive railnetworkin Buchanan County.

Linesofthe Chesapeake & Ohio Railway and itspredecessors operatedthrough the Alleghany High-
lands, including the counties o fAlleghany, Botetourtand Craig. The city of Clifton Forge became a key
location onthe C&O system. The firstdecade ofthe 20thcentury saw the construction ofthe Virginian Rail-
way, partofwhich paralleledthe N&W from Roanoke westthroughthe New RiverValley.

Despite the presence ofthe other carriers, the Norfolk & W estern became the dominantrailway in
southwesternVirginia. The location ofits general offices and extensive shop facilities in the formercommunity
ofBigLick,whichhaddevelopedintothe City ofRoanoke, made itparticularly prominentin thatsection ofthe
state.

An overview o fthe N&W"and its organization showsthe wide variety ofskills and talents necessary
forthe efficientoperation ofa greatindustry. W ith a few variations, the same general principleswould apply to
the otherrailroads o fsouthwestern Virginia.

By about 1910,the majorrailroad systems ofthe United Stateshad been well established. They were
the dominantform oftransportation. Theironly real competition, butonly in limited areas, was from water-
ways. Railroads hauledvirtually allthe freight, expressmailand passengers. In many communities, the railroad
station wasthe center ofcommercial activity.

However, the dominance ofrailroads in the transportation field probably peaked around 1915, after
which the industry began a slow decline, broughtaboutprimarily by the rise ofthe automobile and paved
roads. Localpassengerbusiness wasthe firstto be affected, followed by short-haul and tim e-sensitive freight
traffic. This decline accelerated duringthe 1920sandbecame precipitous duringthe GreatDepression. Then
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A fading photo shows an old steam locomotive manned by a Bluefield yard crew. (History Museum photo)

atemporary reversal offortunes occurred during World War Il when the railroads experienced their “finest
hour,” handlingunprecedented volumes oftraffic. Unfortunately, formany railroads the decline in virtually all
segments o ftheirbusiness resumed and continued during the latterhalfo fthe 20thcentury. Railroad employ-
ment, ofcourse, was drastically reduced.

Although its functions have changedto agreatdegree, the railroad industry isnotdead. Letus go back
to the time when railroads were attheirposition ofgreatestprominence, in the early decades ofthe 20th
century, and considerhow Norfolk & W estern “railroad men” worked.

First, railroadingwasprimarily a “man’sworld.” Few womenwere employed by the industry until the
1920s and then usually only in clerical positions. Second, the term, “railroad man,” covers awide range of
positions and includes individuals with many different skills and tem peraments. “Railroad men” did, however,
generally have one common characteristic: They were intensely loyal to theiremployerand many spenttheir
entire working careers, sometimes more than halfa century, with one company.

Inrecentyears, we have learned about“24/7” companies, those that operate around-the-clock, seven
daysaweek. Thereisreally little new about such a system—railroads have been operating thatway formore
than 150 years. Muchrailroad work was performed atnightand many employees carried outtheir duties
behind the scenes and outofthe public eye. Letus look at some ofthe particulars.

The operation ofarailroad has been likened to that o fa military organization. To a greatextent, such
a comparison istrue. A strict system ofdiscipline was applied in orderto ensure safety and to provide forthe
punctual operation oftrains. Orders from the top were expected to be complied with throughoutthe organiza-
tion andthe failure ofany link in the chain could have a detrimental effect on the rest o fthe operations.

Large systemswere broken down into operating divisions, each headed by a superintendentand
responsible forits own operation and its coordination with connecting divisions o fthe system. The N&W had
five road operating divisions, fourofwhich had some trackage in Virginia.

Themostbasic elementin arailroad is its track and structures. In principle, although greatly improved
in quality, itis almostthe samenow as when railroads began—steel rails fastened to crossties and supported by
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crushed stone, orballast. Railroad lineswere divided into sections o fvarious lengths, perhaps five or 10 miles,
headed by a section foreman. In many cases, the foreman was furnished a company house, adjacentto the
right-of-way. His forces consisted ofa group oflaborersusually called “section men,” who had the responsi-
bility forthe routine maintenance ofthe track ontheir section.

Thesemen labored in the heatwavesofsummer, the cold blasts ofwinterand in every otherkind of
weather condition. They earnedtheirliving truly by the “sweato ftheirbrows,” working mostly with hand tools
such as picks, shovels, spike mauls, track jacks and ballast forks. They traveled to and from theirwork on
hand cars, propelled by the pumping section o fthe riders.

Theirnormalwork hours were during daylight,butwhentrouble such as broken rail occurred atnight,
the section foremanwould assemble his men, gatherthe necessary materials and make repairs as expeditiously
aspossible. The firstrule wasto ensure safety. The nextwasto restore service as quickly as possible in order
to keep the trainsrunning.

W hen snow accumulated in winter, the section men were the ones called uponto remove it from
switches, clear station platforms and road crossings and do anything else required to keep the railroad running.
Theirwork had to be done between train movements, so asto cause as little delay as possible. In short, the
maintenance-of-way personnel labored underoftentrying conditionsto ensure the safety and continuity o fthe
railroad’s operations.

Forlarge-scale projects, such as laying new rail, the railroad employed large groupsofmen known as
“extragangs.” These gangsmoved overthe system astheirwork required and were frequently long distances
from the homes oftheirmembers. They were usually housed in camp cars, consisting ofseveraldormitory or
“bunk” cars and a dining car. The cars were moved from place to place asthe work required and on week-
ends,the menwere furnished free rail transportation to and from theirhomes.

Employees ofthe bridge and building departmentincluded carpenters, masons, steelworkers and
painters. Theirresponsibilities included maintaining stationbuildings and other structures along the way, includ-
ingbridges ranging in heightup to 150 feetormore.

Other“outside” workerswere the signal maintained, responsible forthe safety and efficiency ofthe
signal systems along the way. In daytime, they performed routine maintenance and tests ofsignal equipment.
They were subjectto call atany time, however, and would frequently be summoned atnightto take care of
trouble, especially during or afterwindstorms, ice storms or snow. Frequently working alone and in the dark,
they keptthe silentsentinels o fsafety working. Telephone and telegraph linemen often had similarworking
conditions.

Steam locomotiveswere the very symbol ofrailroading itself. Theirmaintenance in top-notch shape
was essential to an efficient operation and required a small army ofmen. Afterevery trip, a locomotive was
routinely serviced by cleaning the fire, dumpingthe ashes, replenishing the fuel, water, sand and lubrication
supplies and washing. These tasks were usually performed by laborers. Locomotives were moved in the
engineterminalby hostlersandtheirhelpers.

Routine maintenance was generally performed in roundhouses at strategic locations on the system,
usually atcrew change points. Theworkwasperformedby various crafts, including machinists, boilermakers,
pipefitters, blacksmiths and theirrespective helpers. By its nature, the work was dirty, with sootand cinders
mixing with grease and oil to form a grubby and grimy mixture thatadhered to many ofthe surfacesofa
locomotive. Atanyrate, inthe often dark recesses o fthe roundhouse, these men wentaboutduties, using both
brain and brawn as they worked underneath, ontop of, and inside the locomotivesto ensure thatthey were
properly maintained. The failure ofalocomotive onthe road could be highly disruptive to an efficientoperation.

Rolling stock was maintained by a separate class ofemployees, known variously as “carmen, car
repairers” or “carknockers,” from theirpractice oftapping on carwheels with ahammerto see ifthey were in
good condition. A wheelwith a defectwould yield ahollow sound. By its nature, much carwork was per-
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formed outdoors and, ofcourse, in all kinds ofweather. Inspectors would carefully inspectevery carin an
inboundtrain and add oilto thejournalboxes. On an outbound train, they would couple the airhoses, assistin
the testing ofthe brakes and make a final inspection o fthe train before itwas released from a terminal.
Refrigerator cars, handling fresh meatorproduce, required special handling at certain terminals en
route. A mixture ofice and saltwas added to the bunkers in orderto maintain the desired cold tem peratures.
Cars foundto be defective in an inboundtrain weretagged and switchedto a “shop track,” sometimes
called a “rip track,” where they were repaired and returned to service. Much ofthiswork was also performed
outdoors.
Train operations were controlled from the division dispatcher’s office, underthe general supervisionof
the superintendent. M ostdivisions had a chiefdispatcherwho worked during the day, and anightchiefas well.
So-called “trick dispatch-
ers,” working eight-hour
shifts, issued orders to
trains onthe road through
operators at stations and
signal towers along the
road. For many years
these orders were trans-
mitted by telegraph, apro-
cess thatrequired a spe-
cialandhighly prized skill.
Telegrapherswere some-
whato fa fraternity o ftheir
own as they communi-
catedthroughtheirarcane
system ofM orse code.
Stations were lo-
cated in communities

A Norfolk & Western Railway wrecking crew pausedfor a picture around alongtheway, usually five
1910-1912. (History Museum photo) to 10 miles apart. Inmany
cases, they were the cen-

terofatown’sactivity. The
smallerstations were staffed by a single individual, generally working daylighthours, who had multiple duties.
Asthe company’slocal agent, he sold passengertickets, handled freightand express, delivered orders to train
and engine crews, andtook care ofany other dutiesthat came hisway. Some stations in remote locations were
two-story structures, with the upperfloorserving as aresidence forthe agentand his family.

The larger stations, open around the clock, were staffed by several employeeswho had more special-
ized duties. In any case, the local railroad station was the place where passengers began or ended their
journeys. Expressand small freight shipmentswere handled and in many casesthe railroad station also was the
localtelegraph office. U.S. mailwas handled atthe station for furthermovementto or from the local post office.

Allthese people and facilities existed for one purpose—so thatthe trains could run and move people
and goods. Otherwise, the railroad and all its facilitieswere ofno value. O fcourse, the trains required train and
engine crewsto manthem.

Butbefore the trains could run on the road, theircars were assembled in ayard, thus requiring the
services ofayard orswitch crew,whichnormally consisted o fayard conductor, two brakemen, an engineer
and a fireman. Typically, underthe supervision ofa yardmaster, they gathered cars from local industries, the
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local freightstation, interchange from otherrailroads and inbound trains. They then classified them on various
tracks, builtthem in blocks by destination and assembled them into an outbound train. Using hand signals
primarily andworking in allkinds o fweather conditions, yard crews switched cars swiftly but carefully and
safely. They had to be constantly alertand allmembers ofa crew learnedto work togetheras ateam in order
to carry outtheir duties.

Road freighttrains were in charge ofa conductor. Among otherthings, before beginning a trip, he was
required to see thathe had a properwaybill or otherauthorizationto move every carin his train. Once under
way, he rode in the caboose with the rear brakeman or flagman, keeping a constantlookout forany defects
thatmightdevelop in cars ontheirtrain. W hen the train stopped enroute, the rearbrakeman wentback with
flagging equipmentto provide protection againstfollowing trains. The frontbrakemanrode onthe locomotive,
observed his portion o fthe train while moving and coupled oruncoupled cars picked up or setoffenroute.

Undersome conditions, as in the case oflocal ormine switching runs, the crews included a third
brakemanto assistin switching and/orto load and unload less-than carload freighten route.

The locomotive engineer—enginemanwas the more formalterm—was perhaps the mostrecognized
ofallrailroad men. Children—and others—Ilovedto wave atapassing train and have a friendly engineerwave
back. Perhaps such an exchange ofgreetingswas one ofthe “fringe benefits” ofademandingjob, because an
engineerhad many duties. Before arun began, he had to know thatthe locomotive was in proper operating
condition. Then, from his seatonthe rightside ofthe cab, he had allthe powerofthe locomotive athis disposal.
W iththe throttle lever, he controlled the flow o fsteam from the boilerto the cylinders. With the reverse lever,
heregulatedthe flow.

One ofhis crucial duties wasto keep a constanteye onthe watergauge to ensure thataproperlevel
ofwaterwasmaintained in the boiler.Ahigh levelwould impairthe efficiency ofthe locomotive; low water
couldresultin severe damageto the boiler or, in extreme cases, a disastrous explosion. The engineer super-
vised the work ofthe fireman to see thataproper fire bed and adequate boilerpressure were maintained.

Meanwhile, he wasrequired to operate the locomotive atthe correct speed to maintain the schedule,
atthe sametime notexceedingthe speed limit, especially on curves and in otherrestricted areas. The engineer
watched forwayside signalsand operated histrain in accordance with theirindication. He sounded the whistle
forgrade crossings and atothertimes asrequired by rule. In addition, he had to comply with the provisions of
train orderswith respectto meeting orpassing othertrains. He observed notonly whatwas immediately within
his view butalso visualized whatwasamile ormore ahead. In addition, with a long freighttrain, he had to be
aware ofthe profile ofthe lineamile ormore to the rearin orderto avoid excessive slack action.

Inthe case ofa freighttrain, the engineersometimes had to contend with handling atrain ofas many as
175 cars weighing 16,000 tons ormore. Inthe mountains, he had to be especially skilled in the operation o fthe
train’sbraking system. Going downhill safely was often more challenging than going up.

Passengertrains, sometimes consisting of 18 or more cars operating at speeds ofmorethanamile a
minute hadto be handled with exceptional smoothness in orderto avoid injury to passengers ordamage to the
chinaware in the dining car. Skilled experienced engineers could make itlook as easy as driving an automobile,
but, as we have seen, there was much more to itthan that.

The fireman’sposition was on the left side o fthe locomotive. Inthe days ofhand-fired locomotives,
however, he had little time to occupy his seatthere whenthe train was moving. Instead, he wasbusy conveying
coal from the tenderto the firebox by means ofa hand shovel, an often strenuous task. However, hisjob
required more than simply shoveling; he had to know where and when to place the coal in the firebox so that
the fire wouldbum evenly andwould make aminimum ofsmoke. He carefully coordinated his work with that
ofthe engineer, such as anticipating stops or slowdowns and handling the firing accordingly.

As locomotives grew increasingly largerand heavier during the early part ofthe 20thcentury, they
exceeded the ability ofaman to fire them. As aresult, mechanical stokers came into use. Although they
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relieved the fireman ofmuch ofthe drudgery ofhis work, itwas still necessary to control their operation

manually in orderto obtain an even firebed and maintain the proper steam pressure. Locomotives could

sometimesbe quite tem peramental, especially with respectto their steaming qualities, and theirproper firing

waspartartand partscience. W hetherhand or stoker-fired, the efficientoperation ofa locomotive required
teamwork onthe partofthe engineerand fireman
aswell asthe locomotive itself.

Passengertrainsprobably provided mem-
bers ofthe generalpublic with theirmost familiar
contactwith railroads. Passengertrains were in
charge ofa conductor, who was responsible for
the overall safety and operation ofthe train. Among
his other duties, he lifted (took up) tickets from
passengers or collected cash fares and properly
accounted forthem. The trainmen—one ortwo
depending on the length ofthe train—announced
stations, opened and closed doors and helped pas-
sengers on and offthe train. A porter assisted pas-
sengers with luggage and keptthe interior ofthe
cars clean. A baggage masterorequivalentposi-
tiontook care ofchecked baggage inthe baggage
car.

Trains with sleeping cars had a Pullman
conductor, who supervisedthe Pullmanporters and
handled tickets and reservations forpassengers
occupying sleeping car space. Pullman porters—
one percar—handled luggage, made up berths,
shined shoes on overnighttrips and called passen-
gersinthemorning, onrequest.

Ontrains with dining cars, a steward su-
pervisedtheiroperation and was in charge ofthe
chefsand waiters. Cooking and serving appetizing
meals onamoving train was an artin itself. The
results, however, were thoroughly enjoyed by the
traveling public. Veterantravelers can remember

Brakeman James A. Cook appears readyfor duty on breakfast on Norfolk & W estern dining cars as
the N& W (History Museum photo) the trains rolled through the Shenandoah Valley or
glided alongside the banks ofthe New Riverin

Southwestern Virginia. Smithfield ham and eggs,
fried apples and hotbiscuits were amongthe more popularitems.

Passengertrains generally carried express by means ofthe Railway Express Agency, an entityjointly
owned by mostofthe majorrailroads. An express messengerhandled the loading and unloading atvarious
stations.

Althoughnotrailroad employees as such, railway postal clerks were closely associated with the indus-
try and were earned on many passengertrains. They were actually employees o fthe Railway Mail Service, a
division ofthe U.S. Post Office. Theyrode in cars designated as “Railway Post Offices,” which in factthey
were. The cars contained boxes into which mail could be deposited and postmarked by thatparticularpost
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office.

Railway Post Offices couldbe as shortas 15 feetin length, occupying only a section o fa largercarand
often manned by a single clerk. Orthey could be as long as 60 feet, stretching the full length ofa car and
manned by asmany as 10 or 12 clerks.

One ofthe more dramatic moments forbystanders in smalltowns wasthe fleeting glim pse ofa postal
clerkinthe doorway ofa Railway Post Office caron a fast-moving train ashe manipulated a hook to catchthe
mailhung on atrackside crane while simultaneously throwing offabag ofinbound mail forthe local postoffice.
Inthose days, long before the use ofzip codes, Railway Post Office clerks sorted mail enroute and in some
cases even pre-classified it for destination cities. Many people would agree thatovermoderate distances, say
up to 500 miles, mail moved fasterand more consistently underthe RPO system than it does today.

Rank and file employeeswere generally paid by the houras covered by laboragreements, with provi-
sion forovertime aftera certainnumber ofhours perweek. They generally had fixed duty hours on various
shifts.

Trainand engine service employees, however, were paid ona complex system based on mileage, with
100 miles being abasic day inroad service and with provision forovertime when appropriate. The pay for
engineers and firemenvaried according to the weighton drivingwheels oftheir locomotive, and for conductors
andtrainmen according to the numberofcarsintheirtrain. Various arbitrary payments were made for extra
dutiesnotconsideredto be connected with the direct operation oftheirtrain.

Train and engine crews were subjectto the Federal Hours of Service Law, which for many years
generally limited them to 16 continuous hours ofduty, laterreducedto 12. There was no distinction between
nightand day orany day ofthe week. Older employees with sufficient seniority could usually hold down
assignedrunswith more less fixed reporting times. Others, though, were generally subjectto callon onehour’s
notice atany time ofthe day ornightafterhaving had eighthours’restfrom theirprevious tourofduty.

Before commercial telephones came into general use, mosttrain and engine crews lived within close
proximity oftheirreporting point. They were called forduty by a “callboy.”

M inute-by-minute operation o ftrains was controlled by dispatchers. The training and general supervi-
sion oftrain crews, however, wasthe responsibility ofa division trainmasterand his assistants. These division
supervisorstraveled overtheirrespective territories, rode trains as necessary, observed the work oftheir
crews and acted astroubleshooters when needed. They were subjectto call atall times, day ornightand often
worked long and unpredictable hours.

The operation ofthe railroad required avoluminousamountofrecord-keeping, handled by amultitude
ofclerkswith varying levels o fskills and responsibilities. Originally done mostly by hand, clerical work was
gradually mechanizedthrough the years. Atsmaller stations, the local agentwashis own clerk. Atlarger ones,
clerks had more specialized duties. Otherclerks worked in division offices and in the various departmentsof
the general offices. Clerk-typists were requiredto be ableto type a specified numberofwords perminute and
stenographer-clerks were required to be proficientin shorthand.

The Engineering Departmentwas headed by the chiefengineer, who had anumber o fassistants spe-
cializing invarious areas ofcivil engineering. These includedroadway maintenance, track construction, bridge
design and maintenance and building design and maintenance (architecture). In the field, survey parties ob-
tained data from which draftsmenin the office could prepare drawings. A system material yard supplied track
and bridge material forthe system. Track maintenance atthe division level was supervised by roadm asters.
TheN&W had its ownplantatRadford for creosoting crossties. The Engineering Departmenthad its own test
departmentforevaluating materials and processes.

The Telegraph and Signal Departmentwas responsible for designing and maintaining the company’s
communicationsand signal systems. Signal circuitdesignerswere amongthe specialistsemployedto designthe
complicated circuitry required forrailroad signal systems.
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The M otive Power Department, headed by a general superintendent, was divided into two main areas:
locomotive and cars. Shopsatoutlyingpoints performed routine maintenance on locomotives and cars. Heavier
work, however, such as overhauling locomotivesand rebuilding cars, was performed ata centralized location:
N&W ’s Roanoke Shops. In addition, foranumberofyearsthe N&W designed and builtmany ofits own
locomotives and cars.

Thisrequired a skilled group ofmechanical engineers who specialized in various phases ofdesign
work. The several departments ofthe shopswere partofamanufacturing facility thatworked notonly to
produce replacementparts butalso components fornew equipment.

The foundry produced castings o firon, steel,brassand bronze, thus requiring patternmakers, coremakers,
molders and others to tend the furnaces and cupolas. Thework was hotinthe summer, cold inthe winterand
potentially hazardous. Even so, skilled and experienced foundrymen could make the spectacularsightofpour-
ing red-hotmolten metal into amold appearalmostas effortless as pouring batter into a waffle iron. Itwasn’t
that easy, ofcourse, butthey could make it look that way.

The blacksmith, orforging shop, carried onthe ancientprocess ofpounding metal into various shapes.
Although ithad been partially mechanized, the “large and sinewy hands” and “brawny arms” described by
Longfellow in “The Village Blacksmith” were stilluseful characteristics forblacksmiths. In some ofthe more
dramatic operations ofthe shop, red-hot steel billets were methodically pounded into the desired shapes by
massive steam forging hammers manned by skilled hammersmiths and their crews. Again, although itwas a
process thatwas a combination ofartand science, coupled with hard work, skilled craftsmen could make it
look almostas easy as pulling toffee candy.

BoilermakerDid LoudWork

By itsnature,the boiler shop wasaplace noted for,among otherthings, itsnoise. That, however, was
simply abyproductofitswork ofrepairing locomotive boilers and building new ones. Boilermakers could roll
heavy steel plates to the proper contour, fasten them togetherby means ofrivets orbolts, and perform the
otherwork requiredto fabricate ahuge vesselthatcould safely and efficiently generate steam atpressuresup
to 300 poundsper square inch. Itwas all in a day’s work.

Skilled craftsmenin the machine shop turned outa variety o ffinished products, ranging from smallnuts
andbolts to locomotive componentsweighing severaltons. Tooland diemakers were among the mostskilled
ofthe machinists. Virtually every partofalocomotive had somework performed onitinthe machine shop.

In the erecting shop, locomotives undergoing heavy repairs were lifted offtheir wheels by massive
overhead cranes and stripped oftheir components, which were overhauled and then reassembled. Itwas also
the location where new locomotives were assembled. Craftsmen otherthan these who worked inthe erecting
shop orotherareas included welders, sheet-metal workers, electricians and carpenters.

New freight cars were constructed at Roanoke Shops on an outdoor facility known asthe “Freight
Line.” Materials produced in otherportions ofthe shops orpurchased from outside vendors were handled by
steam-powered cranes and assembled by carmen into the finished product. Passengercars were repaired in a
separate shop. Crafts employed there included cabinet-makers, upholsterers and electricians.

The TestDepartmentwas apartofthe Motive Power Department. Its staffincluded several test
engineers aswell as chemists. Among its responsibilities was the testing and evaluation o fmaterials purchased
orproduced by the company. From time to time, itperformed road tests oflocomotivesin orderto evaluate
theirperformance and improve efficiency.

The Purchasing Departmentwas responsible forpurchasing and storing the vastamounts ofmaterials
used onthe railroad. A large general storehouse was located in Roanoke, with smaller facilities located at
outlying points, staffed by storekeepers. The Purchasing Departmentstaffalso included a lumberagent, re-
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Railroad paint shop office workers were on the job, with an upright typewriter and old telephones.
(History Museum photo)

sponsible foracquiring crossties and othertimberproducts, aswell as a stationer, responsible forpurchasing
stationery and office supplies forthe system.

The Transportation Departmenthad general supervision over system train schedules, locomotive dis-
tribution and car supply and itwas responsible forcarrental payments with otherrailroads.

Keepingtrack ofallthe money collected and disbursed throughoutthe system wasthe function ofthe
Accounting Department. Itwas staffed by numerous accountants, bookkeepers, auditors, agents and clerks,
allofwhom hadtheir special areas o fresponsibility.

Otherdepartments related to finance were the treasurer’s office, the payroll departmentand the taxa-
tion department. Claim agents and claim adjusters worked in the Casualty Claim Department, responsible for
investigating and settling casualty claims. The Freight Claim Departmentwas a separate section, staffed by
freightclaim adjusters, who handled claims fordamaged or lost freight.

Therailway had its own police department, usually known as the Special Service Department. Plain-
clothes special agents orrailway policemen were stationed throughoutthe system to protectpassengers,
employees, company property and lading. They generally kepta low profile butwere quick to actwhen
needed.

The Public Relations and Advertising Departmentwasresponsible foradvertising the company’s ser-
vices and promoting its image. Itincluded the editor, writers and photographers forthe company magazine.

The Traffic Departmentwasmade up ofthe company’s salesmen, althoughthey were generally known
as “traffic managers,” “general freightagents” orby similartitles. Although the departmentheads were in
Roanoke, sales agents were located in all importanton-line cities as well as outlying locations from coastto
coast. The Industrial and Agricultural Departmentassisted in getting new rail-oriented industries to locate in
N&W territory.

Asitsname implies, the Law Departmenthandled the company’s legal matters, including regulatory
issues atthe local, state and federal level.
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Asin mostcorporations, the Executive Department consisted o fthe top officials and department
heads ofthe company. All were located in Roanoke, exceptforthe treasurer and corporate secretary, who
had their offices in Philadelphia, apparently a concessionto the PennsylvaniaRailroad’s heavy financial invest-
mentinthe Norfolk & Western. M osto fthe executiveswere N& W veterans who had worked theirway up
the corporate ladderthrough many years ofservice.

Throughoutits long history, the Norfolk & W estern was fortunate to have men o fhigh integrity in its
leadership. Notonly did they serve the company wellbutthey were also leaders in the civic and cultural life of
the community.

Educationalrequirements forrailroad employees obviously varied with the particularjob. Through the
years, the company became more selective, especially as the general level ofeducation rose.

Laborersrequired minimal educational standards; indeed in the early part o fthe century and for some
years later, a few were illiterate. The standards forhelperswere somewhathigher. Apprentices forjourneymen
positions, aswellas locomotive firemen andbrakemen, were generally required to have a high school educa-
tion.

On-The-JobTraining

M ostrailroad training in the early part o fthe 20thcentury was on-the-job. In the unskilled crafts, first-
line supervisorsand more experienced workerstaughtthe new employees. Formechanics’ positions, such as
machinists and boilermakers, employees served a four-yearapprenticeship before establishing their seniority in
aparticular craft.

Locomotive firemen, after several years ofexperience, were required to pass an examination on oper-
ating rules and locomotive and air brake operation before being promoted to engineer. Brakemen (trainmen)
were similarly requiredto pass an examination forpromotion to conductor.

Dispatcherswere promoted from the ranks oftelegraphers. Y ardmasters and trainm asters were usu-
ally promoted from the ranks o fclerks, telegraphers and trainmen.

The more skilled levels ofclerks, such as stenographers, usually had some business school training.
Correspondence courses were offered inanumberoffields ofstudy forrailroad workers, including the shop
crafts.

Astimewenton,anumberofmiddle managementpositionswere filled by college graduates, although
some posts continued to be filled from the ranks.

Rank-and-file railroad employees have been organized into craftlaborunions formany years. Highly
detailed laboragreements covered rates ofpay, working conditions and separation ofwork according to craft.

Employee pensions were covered by a system established by the federal Railroad Retirement Actof
1935. The benefits were somewhat similarto those provided by the Social Security System.

A numberofstrikes occurredthroughthe years, many ofthem on onerailroad atatime. A nationwide
strike by the shop crafts occurred in 1922 butreplacementworkerswere hired and the railroads continued
operations.

The passage ofthe Railway Labor Actin 1926 was intended to avoid strikes by providing fora
cooling-offperiod before awork stoppage could be initiated. However, in M ay 1946, the nation’s railroads
were shutdown for several days by a strike. Anumberofthreatened strikes in the post-W orld War Il years
resulted intemporary governmentseizure ofthe railroads. Atothertimes, selective strikes were called against
individual carriers orgroups o fcarriers.

Inthe summerof 1971, the Norfolk & W estern was one ofseveral railroads targeted in a selective
strike which lasted abouttwo weeks. A more serious situation arose in 1978 whenthe company was struck by
the clerks’union in awork stoppage that lasted for 82 days. During thattime, however, the company was able
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Precision work was daily routine in the N&W3 East End Shops in Roanoke where a worker operated a
metal lathe. (History Museum photo)

to operate atareasonably high level of capacity with two-man supervisory crews and no cabooses. The
N&W ’ssuccessin operating withoutthe carsonthe end o ftrains is generally regarded as an important factor
in the eventual elimination ofcabooses nationwide and the adoption o ftwo-man crews in freight service.

The second halfofthe 20thcentury saw dramatic changes in the railroad industry in the United States.
One ofthe mostobvious was the conversion from steam to diesel-electric motive power. Eventhe N&W,
which had remained loyal to steam longerthan any othermajor U.S. railroad, completed the conversion to
dieselin 1960. A majorresultwas a substantialreduction in employmentrelated to locomotive maintenance,
particularly in such crafts as boilermakers.

AfterWorldWarll, railroads saw an erosion ofmuch oftheirbusiness. Jetairplanestook away many
ofthe passengers. Improved highways and particularly the interstate highway system, siphoned offnotonly
passengersbutalso huge volumesoffreighttraffic. A numberofrailroads were forced into bankruptcy; some
rather large systemsvirtually disappeared from the map and awholesale “rationalization” o fthe railroadstook
place. Those factors, coupled with automation and mechanization ofmany functions formerly handled by
manual processes, caused railroad employmentto be drastically reduced by the end ofthe century.

From 1910 until about 1960, there was little change in the railroad map ofthe United States. Some
minorbranch lines were abandoned, some subsidiary companies were absorbed by their owners, butonly a
few new railroad lineswere built. In 1959, however,the modem mergermovementbeganwhenthe Norfolk &
W esternand Virginian railways merged. Thiswas followed in 1964 by an expansion into the M idwestthat saw
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the Nickel Plate and W abash railroads included in the Norfolk & Western. In 1982, the Norfolk & W estern
?nlﬂ Southernrailways combined to form Norfolk Southern and the system headquarterswasmovedto Nor-
olk.

M eanwhile, most ofthe otherrailroads in the Southeasthad been consolidated into the CSX system.
Inthe late 1990s, Norfolk Southernand CSX then divided the linesofConrailbetweenthemselves. Theresult
has been that Norfolk Southern and CSX are the two remaining large systems in the East. As for W estern
Virginia, CSX operates lines inthe Alleghany Highlands in the coalfield counties. Norfolk Southern, however
is stillthe dominantcarrierin Southwestern Virginia

The formation of Amtrak in 1971 relieved mostofthe U. S.railroads from directparticipation in
passengerbusiness. As farasthe general public was concerned, this action probably removed their most
familiar contactwith the railroad industry.

Otherthings have changed as well. Beginning in the 1980s, the nation’srailroads were partially de-
regulated by the government, thus helping to strengthentheirability to compete with otherforms oftransporta-
tion. In an efibrtto reduce the labor-intensive nature o fthe industry, the carriers have contracted outsomeof
theirmaintenance work. Computers and other centralized automatic processes have virtually eliminated agents
inthe smalleron-line communities and have greatly reduced the numberofclerical and accounting positions.
M osttrains now operate with only two-person crews. And railroading isno longeran exclusive “man’sworld”
aswomen are now onthe payroll in practically all categories ofwork.

In summary, railroads are now somewhat specialized “wholesalers” transporting freightratherthan

retailers handling avariety ofbusiness. They still haul large amounts ofcertain commodities, such as coal,
chemicals, grain, lumber, automobile parts and finished automobiles. By increased involvementin the handling
o mtermodaltraffic, they are endeavoring to relieve some ofthe congestion on the nation’s overburdened
highways.

Obviously, the industry isnotso prominentin the public eye as itonce was. Still, railroads, far from
bemg dead, are vital to the nation’s economy. And, evenifin reduced numbers, people are still essential to the
operations ofrailroads.
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The Virginia & Tennessee Railroad -
150 Years Ago

By George Kegley

Thefirst train “coughed and bellowed” when it reached Big Lick on Nov. 1, 1852

century and ahalfago, on November 1,1852, the firsttrain, awood-burning locomotive believedto

have beennamed “Roanoke,” pulled into Big Lick from Lynchburg, opening aprosperouseraof

steam and dieseltransportation offreightand passengers. In three decades, Big Lick became Roanoke,
recognized asarailroad town, home of the Norfolk and W estern Railway.

“Theroadisbutcompletedto Big Lick, and on this day passengers and freights are conveyed atthat
point,” Charles F.M. Garnett, chiefengineerofthe Virginiaand Tennessee Railroad, wrote to the presidentand
directorsinthe company’sannual reportdated Nov. 1,1852. Thatproved to be an historic date in Roanoke
Valleyrailroad history.

Inthis anniversary year,the coming ofthe railroad was marked by the unveiling ofan historic marker at
the approxim ate site ofthe train’s arrival. Afterthe markerceremony, luncheon talks were given atHotel
Roanoke by JohnR Fishwick, chairman ofthe Norfolk and W est-
ern Railway before its mergerwith the Southern 20 years ago, L.1.

Prillaman, vice chairman ofN orfolk Southern, successorto N&W,
and Louis Newton, aretired assistantvice presidentofN&W.
Fishwick saidthatin histime withthe railroad (1945-1981),
N&W “wasabig dealin Roanoke... The EastEnd shops were the
blood bank forthe community.” N&W and Appalachian Power
Co. “dominated local politics.” Prillaman said thatfirsttrain in 1852
gave BigLickajump starttoward becoming the commercial and
social center_forthe west_err? partofthe Commonw_e_alth andbe- Afree ticket to ride the Va & Tenn.
yond. Executives o fthe Virginia & Tennessee were visionanes,but 5 three years, from 1853-1856.
they had no way ofknowingjusthow big theirenterprise would  (History Museum photo)
become, he said. In the early 1950s, Newton said, N&W wasthe
longestrailroad inVirginia, the state’s largesttaxpayerandthe big-
gestRoanoke Valley employer, with an estimated 9,000 workers, including 3,000 in the shops and another
3,000 inthe offices. Norfolk Southern employed about 1,800 in Roanoke in 2002.

Backin 1852, how did residents o fthe crossroads village ofBig Lick see the arrival o fthe firsttrain
from Lynchburg? CharlesA. Deyerle o fRoanoke County,a smallboy atthe time, latertold anewspaper, “A
hush fellupon thatassembly when wreaths ofsmoke were first seen to rise and hoveroverthat cutthrough
which the train wasto come. Then the smoke stack came into view, looking like some uncanny and ugly
monster, having a small, lady-like waistoutofall proportion to its huge bell crown.”

Deyerlereported “expressions ofawe, fearand consternation...expectancy and wonder” on the

George Kegley, a longtime resident ofRoanoke, is a permanent director of the History Museum and editor
o fthe Journal.
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faces ofthe people who had notseen atrain before. “Theirgreatestconcern and curiosity centered chiefly in
the motive powerand its operation,” he said. The engine “fainted, breathed, sneezed, coughed, bellowed and
complained.”

Henry Trout, latermayorofRoanoke, recalled thatthe firsttrains were tiny, wood-burning machines,
pulling atbestthree passengercars and a few freight cars, all they could handle. “Butall ofus in those days
thoughtthey were greatmachines, and they seemed asbig and powerful to the youngsters” as any locomotives
the future would bring, Trout said in areminiscence published in the Roanoke EveningNews in 1913 and in
Roanoke 1740-1982, by Clare W hite.

Anotherbriefeye-witness accountcame from W.H. Tinsley, son ofBenjamin Tinsley, who was an
ownerofEImwood, the plantation house once standing above Roanoke’s Main Public Library. In a short
history ofEImwoodby Sydney TaylorAlexander, W.H. Tinsley wrote:

“Ourfamily divided their summers between my Grandfathers Trentin Appomattox and Tinsley in

Sydnorsville, Franklin
County. Thatyear, 1852,
we leftourhome in Rich-
mond, Va., via packet
boatforLynchburg, where
we caughtthis firsttrain for
Big Lick. There we took
a stage for Rocky M ount
where wewere metbhy a
big four-horse ‘new town’
wagon, filled with straw,
andhadthetimeofourlife
riding to Grand-Pas. The
roads were too bad to
drive othervehicles.”

In his annual re-
portfor1852,0.G. Clay,

A Virginia & Tennessee Railroad steam engine was shined and ready to roll ~ retiring president of the

in the 1850s. (History Museum photo) Virginia and Tennessee,
rejoiced at the planned

completion o fthe railroad
to Salem,then a 50-year-old town, buthe did notmentionthe Nov. larrival atBig Lick,a small community.
Clay said the new railroad was earning revenue 0 $9,000 amonth afteritwasbuiltto Liberty (Bedford today)
and he anticipated thatwould rise to $10,000 when trains began serving Salem.

W hen the firsttrain reached Salem on Dec. 15,1852, local townspeople threw aparty with oratory,
barbecue, a military salute and fireworks, according to Norwood M iddleton’s Salem, a Virginia Chronicle.

In 1952, the centennial ofthe coming ofthe firsttrain was celebrated with a week-long observance,
featuring areenactmentofthatarrival, a $5-a-plate dinneraddressed by former Gov. William Tuck, a display
ofaminiature railroad in the Roanoke passenger station, exhibits in stores, civic club programs and modem
locomotives. A bronze medallion commemorated the eventand aplaque wasplaced in the station.

“None ofus gettoo old to enjoy the thrill ofa locomotive,” Tuck said. “The people o fthe little village
ofBig Lickmusthave been thrilled when the firstlocomotive cameinto thattown.” R.H. Smith, N&W presi-
dent, talked aboutthe arrival o fthat firsttrain “overthe newly laid and probably somewhat shaky track” ofthe
Virginiaand Tennessee. Therewasn tany Roanoke then. From the bestrecord | am able to get, there weren’t
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even any houses close to the new
track...the hamletwas known as
BigLick.”

Throughthe years, writers
have not spared language to de-
scribethatfirsttrain. ..[Gjoggle-
eyed citizens ofBig Lick and the
surrounding countryside heard for
the firsttimethe shrillwhistle ofthe
locomotive echo across the hills
andwatchedwithmingled feelings
asthepuffingmonsterrumbledinto
their community,” said R.R.
Homer, longtime head of the
N&W Advertising and M agazine
Department, in The Common-
wealthmagazine in October 1938.

Irishimmigrantsand slaves
provided much ofthe labor forthe
construction ofthat firstrail line,
according to Bedford County censusrecords. Building arailroad wasnotan easy task through the rocks, hills
and streams ofSouthwest Virginia. Construction ofthe 204 milesbetween Lynchburg and Bristol took more
than six years. The new line started atan elevation o f767 feetatLynchburg and reached aheightof2,594 feet
near Rural Retreat. Workersbuilt254 bridges, including one almostamile long across New River. They built
five tunnels; one near Christiansburg was 724 feetlong, according to Elizabeth Dabney Coleman, writing in
Virginia Cavalcade.

W henthe Virginiaand Tennessee was completedto Bristol, John Robinson M cDaniel, presidentofthe
railroad, happily wrote to his board o fdirectors, accordingto Homer. “Youarenotalone in yourrejoicing. The
merchant, the mechanic and the farmer unite with you. Itis a successful termination ofone ofthe mighty
strugglesofourgood old Commonwealthto throw offthe trappings ofvassalage she hasworn so long. Itisa
greatadvance up the ascentofcommercialindependence. Thewinterofyourtrouble is passed. A genial spring
isnow opening with itsbudding o ffuture prosperity.”

A plague commemorating the 100th anniversary of the arrival of
the first train was placed in the Norfolk & Western passenger
station in 1952. The plaque is in the History Museum collection
today.

‘A Century of Service to
Roanoke™ was cel-
ebrated on the obverse
side of this medallion
struck in 1952 for the
100th anniversary of
tghe arrival of the first
train. The reverse side
portrays thatfirst
engine. (Medallion is
owned by Don Piedmont
o f Roanoke)
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W orking with Winston Link atthe
End of Steam Power onthe N&W

By Thomas H. Garver

nthe late summerof 1957, Winston Link was looking for a part-time assistant, | was looking for part-
time work, and I took thejob. 1’d graduated from college in suburban Philadelphiathe previous year
and subsequently moved to New York City to work in business atjustaboutthe lowestlevel (and fora

Aila 116 StnD madephotographsatB c°hege foranadmissionsbrochure ayearbefore 1’d

M ~Montooi”h”6ElU4aSS1Sted” “iston 1lgetting around the campus and setting up hisphotosandlmet

Thiswasthe sortofwork thatprovided the bread and butter for Winston’s photographic practice
w ehwasamixture o findustrialplantphotos, work for corporate annual reports and college adm issions
brochures, general work foradvertising and public relations firms, and product illustrations. He shota few
covem forPo”~/ar& “cemagazine, and did abitoffashion worktoo, buthis real specialty was taking on
ousT” ex mdustna projects which demanded careful planning, precise lighting, and mighteven be abitdanger-

a%}ﬂgg rtfkh/\hﬂﬂ USGUIT]HThIS was apart t|m € act|V|ty e}/njd %eeb y ns%me adgltlon(’:EWON\( jUZ?aS Wlns rq

rooklyn
In NN d°vetailedprecisely. His studio was then in a small old building
withM M S f 1 aQOU 6°fblockseastofl Empire State Building. He had a floor-through space,
two H ,iw e reCePt *?n ™°™>where no °ne ever sat, adressing room, iarge studio atthe front o fthe space and
assistot*001118~ ~ baCk'1wor*edacouPle °fdaysaweek, makingprintsandbeing a general“gofer” and

By thattime, Winstonhad beenworking onhis documentationoftheN orfolk& W estem Railway for
morethan two years, so-he had aveiy good idea ofwhathe wanted to capture before itwas too late. During

tiie summerof 1956, Wmston had taken his studio apartso thathe could create the first exhibition ofphoto?

M od’\"’\s"IM B!\/I hM M V6iy’3i® Ednts’~ d the installation, influenced by the Museum of
N AaArdbySAT "agm phicdesignerandoldfiiendof

tiie photographer. Ithad been a beauttlul show, and W inston’s intenthad been both to generate new business
Adem onstrating his capabilities as an industrial photographer, and to see ifhe could sellany ofthe prints for

thT+n"VCrtIS1g us6’” n ston latertaiked abitwistfully aboutthis exhibition, having come to the
realizationthatthere wasjustno real commercial value to the photos he was making ofthe railroad, particularly

as his goal wasto documenta fastvanishing technology. y
Re® m b erthatin the 1950s, everyone was striving to be “modem.” The idea o fhistoric preservation

wasreserved foronly atiny fraction ofthe mostimportantand historic buildings, the use ofrevival architectural
styles was unthinkable, and things old, particularly ifthey werejust moderately old, were oflittle interest.

Thomas H Garver ofMadison, Wis. gave a talk on his work with O. Winston Link at an Anril

worked nv s an, is a graduate ofHaverford College and the University of Minnesota He has
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Splendid Victorianbuildingswere coming
down all overthe country and whole sec-
tionsofcitieswere givingwayto bulldozer
“urbanrenewal.”

Therewas little concern aboutthe
loss of steam on the railroads, and cer-
tainlynone onthepartoftherailroads them-
selves. Itwasthe “price ofprogress,” and
progress was moving fast. Forme, how-
ever,whatW instonwas doing in making
these photographs made perfect sense.
Eventhough | had taken anumberofhis-
tory ofartcourses in college (and would
goonto take agraduate degree inthe sub-
ject), I had loved machinery from my ear-
liestyears. | had watched steam engines
onlandandonthe GreatLakes. | had even
collected a few old clocks by then, and
would certainly have collected more had
my living accommodations permitted it.

W inston approached the task of
documentingthe Norfolk & WesternRail-
way withthe inevitability o fan assignment
thathe mighthave received from one of
his clients. W hen he received ajob, I do
not remember him talking much about
whetherhe liked ordisliked whathe was
askedto do (although he had plenty to say
about the people with whom he had to
work,someofitnotvery complimentary).

If W inston took on ajob for one of his Machinist O.N. Carroll (left) and engine hostler R.H.

) R Carrier stand by the huge tools used in the repair ofsteam
clients,hewouldgive ithisbestefforts. He  |ocomotives in the Bristol roundhouse in October 1957.
seemedto feel exactly the same way about

the assignmentofdocumentingthe lastyears
ofthe N&W, only in this case itwas an assignmenthe gave himself. | made three trips with W inston, the first
one during the lasttwo weeks ofOctober, 1957.

The N&W had letW inston know thatthey would be replacing steam onthe Abingdon Branch with
dieselpowerasofDecember 1, and W inston wanted to make more photos there. This was his fourth trip to
the Abingdon Branch. He began hisrecord in mid-June, 1955, with atwo-day trip, riding the train and using a
Rolleiflex, a small, hand-held camerathathe carried on a strap around his neck. He produced slightly more
than 200 images this firsttrip, making photosboth from the train, and hopping o ffto photograph whenthe little
engine, with its mixed load offreight cars, abaggage-express carand apassenger car, all ancient, stopped at
one ofthe many stations along the line.

W inston came back three more times, in Octoberof 1955, again in October, 1956, and the finaltrip of
October, 1957. He always came inthe fall because o fthe beautiful foliage atthattime ofyear. W hile he did not
often shootin color, the photoshetook onmy firsttrip with him were almostall in color. Hejust couldn’t resist
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H I H H 8 9 W Aew a city tedfrom New York, posed with several young women at a

ground,uguTT"A" “ ° h°tshotfrei%t moved "tw ard on the N&W main line in the back-

the image ofthe black engine and little train moving through such beautiful trees and alongside little streamsof
clearwaterthat seemed to change names with every turn ofthe road. Winston broughthis two 4x5 view
cameras with him, forthose were whathe used when he was making “serious” photographs.

Buthe broughtalong something else this trip, amammoth and extremely heavy tape recorder Early
the previous year, Winston and his then-assistant, George Thom, had made some recordings onavery modest
home tape recorder, to provide “background” for W inston’s studio exhibition. The sounds were so effective

atW inston, operating as he did when he boughtphoto equipment, researched the marketand boughtavery
goodtaperecorder. Allthe cameras, heavy tripods forthe 4x5 view cameras, film, lenses, filters and the tape
recorderwere packed into the back seatand trunk ofhis 1952 Buick convertible.

Before leavmg forany ofthese trips, Winston would prepare and check over his supplies with the
precisionland careofan explorerdeparting on an expedition. Overnightshipping services didn’texistthen, and
itwould have been a disasterifsome importantpiece ofequipmenthad been leftbehind foritcould nothave

eenreplaced m rural western VirginiaorWest Virginia. Itwas an overnighttrip to Virginiathen, downU S
Highway 11, stopping at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, orFront Royal forthe night. Onthat firsttrip, we spentmost
ofourtune atthe M artha Washington Inn in Abingdon, a bit seedy then, andwe would be up atdawn orbefore
to head[outonthe Abingdon Branch to getsetup forthe firstshotofthe day. W ecouldgetintwoorperhaps
threephotos by setting up in advance, making thephoto asthetmin came by, then quickly putting the equip-
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mentinthe back ofthe Buick and rushing on to the next spotW inston had staked out.

He seemedto have them completely memorized, and he knew every turn in the very winding road
between Abingdon and W est Jefferson, North Carolina, the southern terminus o fthe Abingdon Branch. He
had aremarkable visualmemory and could vividly describe the photo he wanted to make, including camera
placementand how he had plannedthe lighting. Asthe Abingdon Branchneverran atnight, we made no night
photos thattrip, butwe putoureveningsto good use.

Instead ofmaking photos, we made tape recordings. One o fW inston’s favorite spots was the round-
house in Bristol. Itwas small, and the locomotives forthe Abingdon Branch and local freight service were
maintained here. Occasionally one ofthe magnificentJ Class engines, used onthe through passengerruns that
connected with the Southern Railway in Bristol, would be found here, butusually the engineswere small and
old. Wemade some wonderful tape recordings here, and several photos aswell, including one ofmy very
favorite portraits o ftwo locom otive workers, standing proudly behind their collection o fmassive tools.

On Sundays, whenthe Abingdon Branch trainsweren’trunning, we wentup to Roanoke and Blue
Ridge to make more photos and recordings, for there was no time to waste. | remember stopping at the
Roanoke station, notto make photos, but so thatW inston could say hello to some ofhis friends there. Atthis
time Winstonhad been divorced foralmost 20 years, and the people he had come to know onthe railroad or
alongthe line had become his surrogate family. In “glamorous” New Y ork City, W inston lived in a furnished
apartmentin atatty apartmenthotel a few blocks from his studio, and I think he tried to live as simply,
inexpensively and conveniently as possible sothathe could devote asmuchmoney as was necessary forthe
N&W project.

N.W. 362 / Summer Evening, Lithia, Virginia



In January 1959, near the end ofsteam on the N&W, this A Class locomotive was working hard as it
began ascending the Blue Ridge grade, east ofRoanoke.

From timetotime, he would grumble aboutwhatthe projectwas costing him, butthatwasjustabout
the only difference | canrecall between this “assignment” and the ones he received from others. A few years
before he died, Winstontold me thathe’d spentabout $20,000 on the project, an amountequivalentto about
$125,000 today, alotofmoney fora one-person photo studio to provide, withoutany hope ofreturn, for
W inston financed the entire projecthimself. Arecentlookthrough Winston’s carefully maintained expense logs
showsthatthe costofstaying in small southerntownsthen was modest. A nightin adecentmotel costthen
whatagood breakfastmighttoday, and a solid breakfast—country ham, eggs, toast, coffee—was abouta
dollarorabitmore.

W henwe came into Roanoke, we took some back roads and headed forthe Blue Ridge grade on the
main line, near Vinton and Bonsack. Winston had found aplace there where he wanted to photograph. Itwas
anarrow road bridge whichran overa cut, sothe main line o fthe N&W wasjustbelow ourfeet. He could also
move from side to side ofthe tracks, thus changing the shooting angles, which was im portantas the lighting
changed. Because itwas anupgrade, we knew thatany train coming through would be working hard and
would be making the wonderful synchronized racket ofa steam locomotive pulling upgrade at fidl throttle
which was perfectboth forphotos and recordings, forthe engineswould be producing huge clouds o fsteam
and smoke, as well asmaking loud butbeautiful music to ourears.

Atfirstwepaid to use some electricity forthe recorder from anearby house, butwhenthehomeowner
unplugged us during a nice recording, Winston knew thathe had to build a selfcontained powersupply, which
was ready forthe nexttrip I made with him, in late May and early June 0f1958. By this time, he had released
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Old Maude, pulling a load of oak logs, came along in October 1956 just as Link started to photograph
the arrival of Train 201, southbound to West Jefferson, N.C., at the little station at Green Cove in Wash-
ington county— the last stop on the three percent grade up to White Top Mountain, the highestpoint east

of the Rockies reached by a regularly scheduled passenger train. The West Jefferson line closed years
ago, and the rail bedfrom White Top to Abingdon has been converted into the Virginia Creeper Trail.

his firstLP recording, “Sounds o f Steam Railroading,” and ithad beenvery wellreceived. Itwas selling well
and making some money, sothis trip was devoted specifically to making recordings forthe nextLP.

W inston had long wanted to documentthe sounds ofan entire trip from onboard the train, so the
N&W obligingly allowed usto setup inthe baggage cardirectly behind the engines o fTrains 15 and 16, the
west- and eastbound Cavaliers. We spentabout 151/2 hours inthatbaggage car, from Roanoke to Williamson,
W.Va., and back again, firstbehind the J-6 11 (now preserved atthe Virginia Transportation Museum). Aftera
couple ofhours in Williamson, when we recharged ourpower supply’sbatteries, it was back to Roanoke
behind J-605, which Winston had photographed so beautifully while itwas being washed in the Shaffers
Crossing yards a couple ofyears earlier. Itwas a magical day, and apowerful vision o fanother fife forme as
we wheeled along the Tug Fork and through the gritty mining towns ofMcDowell Comity, WestVirginia.

My final trip with W inston was in August, 1958, and we again returned to McD owell County, working
in Welch, North Fork, and Panther. We were making nightphotos, and W inston’s teen-age nephew, Roy
Zider, was along forextramuscle. Winston Link is bestknown forthe photos he took ofthe railroad and its
surroundings atnight, which he did sothathe could control the fight, and thus focus on the subjects he wished
to emphasize,while largely eliminating distracting elementsthrough his selective fighting techniques.

The trip produced two o fW inston’sbestknown photos, “SwimmingPool, Welch, West Virginia,” in
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which Roy gotto puton his swimming suitand meet some ofthe local girls atthe pool, and “Main Line on
Main Street, North Fork, West Virginia.” In North Fork the valley was so narrow thatanumber ofthe old
busmessbuildings (now all demolished) fronted on the main line o fthe railroad. We were doing two tasks in
North Fork, making photos, and sound recordings, too.

Becausethiswas atrip inwhich nightphotos would be made, we had to tow a smalltrailerbehind the
Buick, filled with the flash equipmentand light stands. Again, W inston had the photos wellin hismind, and |
recallthatin Welch, he musthave seenthe municipal swimming poolon one ofhis scoutingtrips which he took
by train, because itwas far from any through roads. Setting up was a disciplined business. Winston invariably
handledthe cameras, tripods and the power supply forthe flash units which he had designed and built. Itwas
small, aboutthe size ofawoman’s makeup case, butit contained sufficientpowerto fire up to 60 flash bulbs
andthree cameras atonce. Roy Ziderand | would handle unpacking the fighting equipmentand laying outthe
electric cables as W inston instructed us to. He would then move in and we would setup the light stands and
brace them againstany wind, plug in all the cables and fitthe reflectors with SylvaniaNo. 2 flashbulbs (which
have notbeen manufactured in decades).

Calculatingthe amounto ffightnecessary foreachphoto was an exactingjob, and thiswas wellbefore
the adventofhand held calculators, so ittook Winston some time to make his computations. Occasionally, he
would setup aportable darkroom so he could develop the sheets offilm on the spotifhe feltunsure ofhis
figures, butusually the film waited to be processed until hisreturn to New York. Needless to say, ourarrival in
many o fthese smalltowns was a majorevent, butwe were always very warmly received, and everyone was
eagerto help, although sometimes we had to ask them to keep silentduring ourrecording sessions. That
Augusttrip was my lastwith Winston, and afteraboutaweek or 10 days, | boarded the Powhatan Arrow in
Welch, and leftfor Cincinnati, and onto graduate school.

I have been asked on many occasionsto describe W inston’s rationale for making these photos, which
remainunique to this day intheirphotographic achievement, and | have to answerthatl neverasked him then
whyhe did it, and he rarely said much aboutit. We both loved steam locomootives, and places and objects that
had along and mellow history. Thatwas enough forme then, butsince thattime | have thoughtaboutthe old
saying thatone contributesto the world, “each in hisown way,” and thatwas true for Winston. He wanted to
seethismode o ftransportation, and the mode o flife thatit supported, preserved in some manner, and the best
waythathe could do thatwasthrough his skills as aphotographer. He eventhoughtaboutbuying the Abingdon
Branch,andthe N&W said thatitwould sell itto him forthe bargainprice 0 f$2,000 permile, about $110,000,
total, butthey also advised him againstdoing it. Itwas a maintenance nightmare. Winston finally had to agree
and reluctantly dropped the idea.

Quite simply, the creation ofthisunique group ofphotoswas atask thatWinstonLink ‘justhadto do ”
Certainly he was motivated by a desire to demonstrate his absolutely preeminentphotographic technique and
he may have thoughtaboutthe benefitto history these photos would provide, butthere was absolutelV no
consideration o ftheirbeing “art.” In fact, Winston knew nothing aboutartorthe artworld. He mighthave gone
to amuseum a few times, and he loved Currier & Ives prints, which he collected in a small way because they
were old and often had trains in them, butthe idea of“artphotography” was highly suspect.

He wanted to make good photos, onesthatwould be appreciated, and one ofhis N&W images did
receive an award given by a camera company in 1956, butthe thoughtofmaking aphotograph to create or
encapsulate “beauty” was completely beyond his ken. Thatwasjustas well forthe Norfolk and W estern
project. Winston applied his innate compositional sensibilities (forhe neverstudied photography) arid brought
hisengineeringbackground and almost20 years o fcommercial photographic experience to this task in exactly
the sameway ashe mightforB.F. Goodrich, Texaco orVolkswagen, which were some ofhis clients. W hatwe
may be especially grateful foristhe factthatW inston Link wanted to record “everything,” to make a complete
statementofwhathe found inthe mountains and valleys o fwestern Virginiaand WestVirginiathrough which
this railroad passed. And forthatwe mustbe grateful.
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These are not astronauts in space paraphernalia. In anticipation ofan exhibition of early N&W photos in
his studio in 1956, Winston Link photographed himself (left) and his assistant, George Thom, with the
special equipment needed to make night photos using a synchronized flash.
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The O. Winston Link Museum will be housed in the renovated N&W Passenger Vitntinn TUo u r .,
Roanoke Valley Convention & Visitors Bureau, which will occuvv mod ofthe ted ,m "Il ™.~ um WIj share lobby space with the
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The Tumpikes of Southwest Virginia

By Kenneth W. Keller

n antebellum western Virginia, few subjectsraised more debate than the transportation developmentof

Virginiawestofthe Blue Ridge. Western Virginiansrealized thatthe economic prosperity oftheirregion

depended uponthe construction ofan effective transportation network, primarily o froads, to link
western Virginia settlementto markets.

Yeteastern Virginians controlled the governmentofthe Commonwealth and mosto fits capital, sothe
governmentat Richmond supported such transportation developments with lukewarm enthusiasm. The
Commonwealth’shalf-hearted supportforwestern Virginiatransportation projects did notdiscourage western
promoters from dreaming ofanetwork oftoll roadsthatwould help westerners gettheir productsto their
customers. So by 1860, the enthusiasm and indignation ofthe west spurred interestin dozens of projects that
honeycombedwesternVirginiaw ith turnpikes—both planned and completed.

Turnpikes, the favored roads ofwestern Virginia’sinternalimprovementplanners, were toll roads,
accessto which was controlled by a gate made ofa long stafforpike. When atravelerpaidthe tollto travel on
the road, the toll collectorwould raise orturn the pike, hence the name “turnpike.” W esterners hoped that
trans-Blue Ridge Virginiawaswell on itswayto becoming a “GreatThoroughfare.” Theturnpike was the key
to these aspirations well before anyone had ever seen arailroad in the west.

Developingtoll roads asawayto bring marketgoodsto customers probably originated in England in
the Middle Ages. The American colonistsbroughtknowledge of Englishturnpikeswiththem to N orth America,
and although some English colonists proposed transportation improvementsthatwould link eastern seaports
withthe Ohio Valley, few projects began until after American independence. The firstlong inter-city road in
Americawasthe Philadelphia-Lancaster Turnpike, finished in 1794; otherturnpikes appeared in New England
soon afterthattime.

Coastal Virginiahad atoll road near Alexandriaas early as 1785. Since up until 1815 the American
population concentrated nearthe seaports, mostpeople used coastal rivers and the ocean fortransport. W hen
afterthe Revolution populationbeganto crossthe Appalachians, the spread o finterior settlementstriggered a
demand forroads. Pioneers broughtthe Philadelphia-Lancasterroad westand southto the uplands ofthe
Carolinasbefore the American Revolution, sothatby the end o fthe eighteenth century, freightwagons, horses,
mules, oxen, pioneer families, slaves, circuitriders, artists, cattle herders, con men, and nobility all traversed
the unpaved and rutted route from the Potomac to the South.

Somany peoplewere movingwestfrom Virginiathateasternersbegan to fearthe depopulation ofthe
older settlements. By 1816, these fears led to adrive for “internal improvements,” astransportation improve-
mentswere called. Eastern Virginians reasoned thatthey might stem the tide ofemigration by promoting the
economic developmentofVuginiathroughimprovementsto Potomac Rivernavigation, a canal from the James
Riverto the Kanawhaandthe Ohio, and interiorroadways. In 1816 the Commonwealth createdthe Boardof
Public W orks to supervise the construction ofsuch transportation improvements.

The Board suggested to the legislature thatamongthe firstprojects it study should be anumberthat
benefited western Virginia, including the improvemento fthe navigation o fthe Roanoke Riverandthe establish-

Dr. Kenneth W. Keller, a history professor at Mary Baldwin College in Staunton, gave this talk at the
April, 2001 meeting o f the History Museum. Keller, who has taught at Mary Baldwin since 1981, holds a
doctorate from Yale University. He is researching the Valley Turnpike.
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mentofaroad from Abingdonto Lynchburgalong with one from Salem to Winchester. Butdespite its sugges-
tions, the ideaofagovernmentactively promoting the economic developmentofa state was alien to the
dominantJeffersonian creed o fearly nineteenth century Virginia, whose leaders favored states’rights, frugality,
limited government, and a strongly laissez faire economy, which the state leftalone.

In Virginia, ifthere were to be transportation projects, private investors, notthe state, would have to
initiate them, and, although the state mightbe partially invested in these projects, the primary impetus for

South-western Road — We announced some time
since that nine miles of the South-western Road had
been let out to contractors, in sections of three miles
each. The road commences at Salem, and the nine
miles now under contract will complete it to Lafayette
in Montgomery county. One section of the road has
already been commenced. We understand that it
has not yet been decided which branch of the
Roanoke, the road will traverse from Lafayette. It
has generally been thought, heretofore, that the Mac-
adamized road would be constructed up the south
fork, by way of Christiansburg; but we learn that the
Lynchburg Company talk of charging $7000 for the
use of seven miles of their mud pike, over which the
road will have to pass; and if such should be the fact,
the new Road will most likely take the route of the
North fork, by way of Blacksburg.

Fincastle Whig

transportation development
wouldhaveto come from pri-
vate interests. Accordingly in-
ternal improvements in ante-
bellum Virginiawere “mixed
enterprises,” orones in which
both private stockholdersand
the Commonwealthwere in-
volved.

Soon after the cre-
ation ofthe Board ofPublic
W orks, groups ofprivate in-
vestors approachedthe legis-
lature for charters ofincorpo-
ration for various road
projects, many of them in
western Virginia. The inves-
tors wanted the right to sell
stock and to enjoy the protec-
tion thatcorporate statuspro-

vided. In exchange for their
special corporate status, the

companies were supposed to
reportannually to the Board
ofPublic Works and seatrep-

Announcement o fa contract to build the Southwestern Turnpike nine
milesfrom Salem to Lafayette in August 1846, Fincastle Whig.
(Archives Research Services, The Library of Virginia)
resentatives ofthe Common-
wealth on theirboards ofdi-
rectors in proportion to the amountofstock the Commonwealth controlled in the company.

In 1816 the legislature responded by chartering a Valley Turnpike (which would run from W inchester
to Harrisonburg, and was laterextended to Staunton) and a Southwestern Turnpike (to run from Salem to the
Tennessee line). Inthe following legislative session 0fl817-1818, the legislature similarly chartered companies
to constructaturnpike from Staunton to the James River and another from Salem to Lynchburg. So many
requests for such turnpikes cameto Richmondthatthe Commonwealth enacted a general turnpike law, which
setbasic requirementsthatall incorporated turnpike companieshad to fulfill and gave to the Board ofPublic
Works supervisory powers overthe companies. Italso settoll rates forall turnpikes and established rules for
the pavmg, grading, and marking ofthe new roads.

Unfortunately, the ambitious plans ofVirginia’sturnpike advocates were soon dashed, forthe financial
depressionof 1819 plungedthe newly incorporated turnpike projects into bankruptcy. M oreover, bitterrival-
ries withinthe Commonwealth between the eastand the west, and between advocates ofroads and ofcanals
and railroads, complicated the efforts ofleaders to revive the projects throughoutthe 1820s.
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Construction expenses often exceeded initial estimates, sothe companies had to seek the legislature’s
permission to sellmore capital stock to finance their operations. Often*companies had to be completely reor-
ganized, andthe legislature had to enact statutesto reincorporate them.

W ith the revival o fthe economy inthe early 1830s, interestin turnpike developmentreawakened, so
thatthe legislature began creating orreviving turnpike companies again. In the legislature of 1829-30, the
General Assembly incorporated the Fincastle and Blue Ridge Turnpike Company. Between 1830 and 1838,
the legislature chartered routes from Staunton to Jennings Gap inthe Alleghenies, to Covington, and to the
Potomac; from Fincastle to Blacksburg and Buchanan; from Fincastleto Danville through Rocky M ount; from
Clifton Forgeto Natural Bridge; from Lexingtonto Richmond andto the JamesRiver; and from Salem to New
Castle, to Bent Mountain, and to Buchanan.

By 1840,the legislature had chartered 47
turnpike companies, but construction progress on
these roadways stopped because ofthe effects of
another financial depression from 1837 to 1842.
W hen the turnpike craze reawakened, by 1860
the state had chartered 190toll roads, with many
ofthem in western Virginia. Pikes established in
the 1840s and 1850s included the Howardsville
Turnpike from southern Augustato the James; the
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Salem and Harrisville Turnpike; the Staunton and Ny see ! <y
North River Gap; the Harrisonburg and Warm c ot N E Ir, EM tt
Springs Turnpike; and the Salem and cere y «n ' ¢
Rappahannock Turnpike.

W estern Virginia seemed particularly
adaptedto the turnpike. Its needs forroads were 4aT". S

P u _p'_ ' ) W imtffé tmim&i drawtng lije
great. Once a sufficiently large population had
settled westofthe Blue Ridge, the land to its west 3 -, -
Whmés¢rstiimiw ! S ¢53

provided ample materials forbuilding the road.

Unlike eastern Virginia, much ofthe westlay ona
base oflimestone that could be used forbuilding
the road and paving it. The bestroads intheeraof

Rates of toll on the Lafayette and Ingles Ferry
Turnpike, 1848. (Archives Research Services, The
Library of Virginia)

the turnpike were paved according to the specifi-

cationsofRobertMeAdam, a Scottish engineer.

According to MeAdam s design, roads were to be paved to the depth ofat leastone footby three layersof
rock, called “metal.” A layeroflargerrocks would be putdown first, then smallerrocks ontop ofthose, and
on top ofthose yetathird layerofeven smaller stones. Road builders would hire companies o fworkersto
break the rock into appropriate sizes, and inspectors would measure the rock with iron rings for each size
before itcould be laid down. To help drainage, the surface ofthe road ofthe “high” way wasto be above the
sidesofthe road, which were to be ditched and lined with flatrocks.

Alltherocksnecessary forthe construction ofsuch a “macadamized” surface could be found among
the limestone ofthe west, although in many placesitwould have to be blasted from the land first. The abun-
danceofpaving material made Virginiawestofthe Blue Ridge the section ofthe state with the m ostextensive
macadamized roads—both completed and proposed.

However, othercharacteristics o fwestern Virginiamade itmore difficultto build roads there in spite of
the availability ofbuilding material. There was both a shortage ofcapital and a shortage oflaborin western
Virginia Virginia’swealth was concentrated in the Tidewater, so itwas difficultto sell enough stock in the
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turnpike enterprisesto properly finance their construction. The scattered nature o fwestern Virginia settlement,
andthe demands onworkers foragricultural labor, construction and otherpursuits made ithard to find enough
workersto break therock and to pave and maintain the road. M oreover, the twisting mountainranges, numer-
ousrivers, and steep grades presented further obstacles to western Virginiaroad builders. Nevertheless, there
was no shortage ofprojects fortransforming western Virginia.
One ofthe mostambitious was the creation o fthe Southwestern Turnpike, aroad ofapproximately
150 miles thatwas supposedto run from Buchananto the Tennessee line, though itwas nevercompleted. Its
advocates clearly wishedto connectthe southwestwith distantmarkets ratherthan with onesin the southern
partofthe Commonwealth. Itwas one ofthe firstprojects to be suggested when the Board ofPublic Works
began its operations in
1816. First chartered in
thatyear, it faced numer-
ousreorganizations, hav-
ing been re-chartered in
1831,1835, and finally in
1846. It was to connect
southwestVirginiawiththe
JamesRiver, whose canal
locks reached Buchanan
butwere neverto go far-
therwest.

The James was
supposed to give south-
westVirginiaaccessto the
“principalmarkets” ofVir-
ginia, accordingto its sup-

Elevation for a toll house on the Southwestern Turnpike, February 1848. porters who metin 1841

(Archives Research Services, The Library of Virginia) . . ,
INn a convention In

Qmstiansburgtoplead for

amacadamizedroad from
Tennessee to Buchanan. Itspromoters, believing thatapublic necessity should be a public project, uiged that
the road be built entirely by the state, since all private companies organized to build the road had failed.
Accordingto the petitioners, southwestern Vnginia suffered from a “destitution o fcommercial facilities” for its
iron ore, salt, lead, and gypsum. Notonly would a road provide an outlet for such com modities, butalso it
would draw trade from east Tennessee to the James and to Richmond.

Otherstates were surpassing Virginia, the petitioners warned: Tennessee was extending the old wagon
roadthatlay in itsright-of-way to Knoxville, and perhaps evento Nashville. A railroad was being builtfrom
Charleston, South Carolina, to Augusta, Georgia. It, too, mighttap the trade that Richmond would lose with-
outapublicroad. Therewere already at least 50,000 tons offreightshipped annually on the crude road that
ran through the GreatValley from the southwest. The glittering economic opportunities that lay ahead could
hardly be imagined. Apparently not, forittook the legislature another fouryears to recharterthe road, and
evenwith its rechartering, the road wasnevercompleted to Tennessee, for construction stoppedjustsouthof
M arion, and only a small portion ofthatpartofthe road thatwas supposed to be macadamized was ever
paved. By 1871 the Southwestern Turnpike Company folded, and the road right-of-way was turned overto
the commissioners o fthe counties through which it ran.

Otherturnpikes had less ambitious goals, butexperienced even less success. Sometowns in the Great
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Valley simply needed turnpikes to gettheirproduce to neighboring Virginia cities thathad betterriver orrail
connections orto carry travelers to the springs. Botetourt County needed aturnpike to run from Fincastle to
Salem so itcould carry its goodsthrough Salem acrossthe Blue Ridge to Lynchburg. This route was supposed
to provide ameansby which the herdsmenofBotetourtcould drive their cattle to Lynchburg, Richmond, and

Petersburg. It did notpay as a turnpike,
so in 1856 the legislature turned overthe
Lynchburgand Salem Turnpike to Bedford,
Roanoke, and Botetourtcounties. In 1860,
the legislature authorized the countiesof
Augustaand Albemarle to purchase the
Staunton and James River Turnpike, so
anotherofthe turnpike projects became a
county road. The abandonment of the
smallerturnpikes by theircompanies was
becoming so frequentby 1860 thatthe leg-
islature established aprocedure by which
an abandoned turnpike could be turned
overtothe county supervisorsofthe county
throughwhich itran. UnderVirginia’sgov-
ernmentduring the period o fthe Confed-
eracy, the legislature incorporated no more
turnpikes.

The problem ofabandoned turn-
pikes became especially severe after the
Civil War, and the legislature itselfdeclared
in 1866, “many turnpikes have been aban-
doned by the chartered companies having
charge overthem.” Although the legisla-
ture chartered a few more turnpikes in
southwestVirginiaafterthe CivilWar, such
asthe Abingdon and Denton’s Valley and
the Abingdon and Rich Valley (1867) and
the Marion and Jeffersonville (1875), by
1874 only seventurnPikes inthe C?mmon-
wealthwere reportingto the Board o fPub-
lie Works, and none ofthem was in Vir-
ginia southwesto f Staunton.

The mostsuccessful ofthe west-

Engineers 'drawings ojI a blridgejg)r tlhe soutfwestern
Turnpike over Reed Creek, near Kents Mill, east of
Wytheville. (Archives Research Services, The Library of

Virginia)

ernturnpikes wasthe Valley Turnpike, a 92-mile-long road thatran from Staunton to W inchester. It was
completedin 1841, had a fully macadamized surface, and remained underthe supervision o fits company until
1918. Itwas known asthe bestextensive road in Virginia. Inthe words ofits lastpresident, Harry Flood Byrd,
itwasthe probably the “bestthoroughfare” in the South. Initially constructed to carry the wheat, pig iron, and
livestock ofthe Shenandoah Valley to Baltimore, some Virginians eastofthe mountains resented the Valley
Pike because itdrained Valley commerce out o fthe state to the north.

There were numerous problems in the construction ofthe road, all ofwhich drove up construction
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costs. M any passages through the Valley were too narrow to provide the legally required 18 feet ofroad.
Rocks were hard to blastaway. Farmers demanded straightroads so they could gettheirgoods to market
quickly and build straight fences thatwere supposed to harbor fewerweeds. Engineers objected and insisted
upon agently curving roadto eliminate the need for steeply graded roadbeds, which the straightroad scheme
produced. Repairs, bridge washouts, dustproduced by the churned up metal, and drainage problems all
caused greatexpense and cutinto profits for the road.

Althoughthe Valley Pike carried much freightin the antebellum years, itsrevenues fell sharply with the
coming ofthe railroad to the Shenandoah Valley, so thatby the Civil Waritwasbeginning to lose its function as
a freightearner. The destruction by both Union and Confederate armiesplayed havoc with the surface ofthe
road and the bridges thatcrossed the Valleyrivers. Once the damage the CivilWarbroughtwasrepaired by
the 1870s,the Valley Pike had become a localroad, used primarily by neighbors visiting each other,orby an
occasional traveling circus, peddlers and gypsies.

Butwith the coming ofthe automobile, its promoters tried to popularize itas atouristhighway for
northerners visiting Dixie. The Valley Pike paid a few dividends to its investors in the years before the Civil
War, butitwas unprofitable in the post-Civil Waryears, and in 1918 the Commonwealth ofVirginiatook it
overto make itpartofthe recently established state highway system. A fterthe passage ofthe Federal Aid
Road Actof 1916, the federal governmentbecame increasingly interested in improved roads overwhich
WorldWarl supplies and troops could be moved more quickly. The Commonwealth secured federal grants in
aid forbuilding state highways, buteventually turned the Pike overto the federal government, whichnamed the
road U.S. 11. It was the first National Highway between New York and Atlanta. Its promoters and the
American Automobile Association said it was the first N orth-South highway, pre-dating the famous coastal
highway U.S. 1,thattook many anortherntouristto Florida.

W hereverinwesternVirginiathey were built, the turnpikes wentthrough three phases ofdevelopment.
First, there had been freightroads, with stagecoach traffic secondary. Stockmen herded cattle along the roads
and heavily laden wagons carried cotton, senecaroot, beeswax, feathers and dried peaches, as well as the
more typical wheatand pig iron. Next, with the entry ofthe railroad into the GreatValley, with penetration
through the Blue Ridge to Winchester (1836), Mt. Jackson (1853), and Staunton (1854), most o fthe cattle
herds and freightwere shipped by rail. Once allthe Shenandoah Valleytowns westo fthe Massanutten Moun-
tain were linked by arailway (1874) and anotherline came down along its eastern side to Luray, W aynesboro
and Roanoke (1882), the freight shipping role ofthe Valley Pike vanished, unless it served as a feederroad to
getproduceto arailroad depot. Farther south, by 1872 the operations ofthe Atlantic, M ississippi, and Ohio
Railroad between Bristol and Salem provided the shippers o fsouthwestVirginiawith a more attractive freight
alternative than the still incomplete Southwestern Turnpike.

Moreover, farmerspressed by declining postbellum farm prices began to resentthe tollsthe turnpikes
charged evenwhenthey traveled by buggyto church. Some members offarm protestmovements singled out
the turnpikes as monopolies asbad as the railroads, with whom they frequently battled. The coming ofmore
railroads in the 1870s and 1880s, aswell as financial depressions, led to the transferofsuch turnpikes as the
Southwestern Turnpike (1871), the Junction Valley Turnpike (1873), the Giles and Pulaski (1879), Fincastle
and Cumberland Gap (1884), Lynchburg and Salem (1873 and 1886), and the Staunton and Parkersburg
(1887)to county commissioners or other local authorities.

Finally,the coming ofautomobiles led to further outcry againstthe turnpikesthatremained, though
few were still operated by private companiesby the late nineteenth century. The speeding flivverstore up the
macadam and their driversbecame deeply impatientw ith the frustrations ofstopping to pay tolls every five
miles orso alongthe road. In addition, hotel ownersmaintained thattolls discouraged tourism. M erchants and
businessmen seeking to attractnorthern capital to the impoverished South argued thattolls keptnorthern
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investors outofVirginia. These interests’demands forthe end ofwhatsome called a “medieval” system oftoll
roads helped pushthe Commonwealth into creating a state highway commission in 1906. Complaints about
county commissioners’tightfistedness led to furtherdemands for a state-adm inistered system ofroads, andin
1918a state highway system began in Virginia.

The experience ofwestern Virginians with theirturnpikes led many citizens to see thatin the public
interest,the Commonwealth had to take on responsibilities its Jeffersonian foundershad notenvisioned. There
weremanypeople in western Virginiawho had longbelieved thatthe complacent, eastern-dominated govern-
mentofthe Commonwealthdid nothave the interests o fwestern Virginiaatheart. Even ifresources had been
adequate forthe building ofaproperroad system westofthe Blue Ridge, itwouldnothave been done because
the political willwasnotin Richmondto do it.

Virginians came to see thatmany people inthe Commonwealth who may neverhave used the west-
ernturnpikes benefited from them. Proprietors ofresorts and springs, hotel and tavern owners, builders of
carriages and coaches, tanners, wheelwrights, and makers ofharnesses and bridles all benefited from the
roads eventhoughthey maynothave usedthem. Butthe roads alsobroughtinvestorsinto the Commonwealth,
andthey provided opportunities foremploymentforworkerswho mightotherwise have leftthe state, thereby
draining labor from the pool ofworkers needed to sustain acomplex, modem society.

Roads enabled governments to allocate resources and suppliesmore efficiently in wartime, sowhen
there was aneedto defend allwho lived in the society, the roadshad to become apublic concern. No county
orprivate company could manage to collect sufficienttolls from allthe people who benefited from the turnpikes
to maintain them adequately. The social benefitofthese enterprises was so greatthatthey hadto be publicly
supported, forthere was a large public interestin maintaining them, and thatrealization made itnecessary for
governmentto actasithad neverdone before in Virginia’s long history.
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The Harris Family Archives and “M a Sue” Hall

By Kathleen Ingoldsby

small, slender, leather-bound album filled with brittle, black paperpages, mostfloating loose from
theirbinding, arrived atthe Floyd County Historical Society almost 15 yearsago. The collection
. ofphotographswas agiftfrom the family ofJune Hall (Slusher) Shelor, the adopted granddaughter
ofthe Rev.John Kellogg Hams, Presbyterian minister, missionary, and educator, who had settled his family
in Floyd overa century before. Justinside the aloum’s frontand back covers, inscriptions and quilled
flourishespenned in an opaque white ink told a profound story ofone family’senduring affection for then-
adopted home:

“(To) ClaraHarris Akersfrom Susan Harris Hall
Scenesfrom. Floyd, Virginia. Taken October 16, 1912. CourtDay.”
“Sis: —
I sendyou these in knowing that they [represent] the town scenes mostsacred to us —
Being the lastand best loved o four dearly belovedfather, John Kellogg Harris.
Sue”

Outfitted with a Kodak Brownie
camera, in the tradition of Kodak’spre-
war advertising icons, the independent
“Kodak Girls,”1 Susan Harris Hall ar-
rivedin Floydonavisitandphotographed
the town atits busiest, on CourtDay, the
one day ofthe month when the entire
community came into townto barterand
sell, to see and be seen. Sue completely
filled the palm-sized album with scenes
ofFloyd, fastening one white-edged print
to each page, and mailed itto her sister
Clara, in Kentucky. The album repre-
sented a laboro ffamily love, inspired by
the death oftheir father, John Kellogg
Harris, two and one halfyears earlier.
M ostofthe photographs depictthe town

Rev. Munsey and Susan Harris Hall (Ma Sue) at Court Day. an” Its people, but some show their
(Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society) father’s granite memorial, which was

Kathleen Ingoldsby directs the Floyd County Traditions oral history program at the Old Church Gallery in

oyd. She has documented historic soapstone uses and prehistoric quarries, completed an architectural
survey of Floyd and photographed county lifefor a video. A graduate of Massachusetts College ofArt
and Hollins University, she received the Mimi Babe Harris Art Awardfrom Hollins for her film "Ma Sue
Hall: Living the Legend. ”
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raisedthrough popularsubscription and placed atthe new Jacksonville Cemetery with the inscription: “Pastor
— Teacher— Friend.” Anewspaper account (ca. 1910-11) lists donors to the Harris M emorial Fund in
amounts 0f$1.00 to $25.00, and agrand total 0f$186.50.2

In 1912, “moved by the meaning ofthe Rev. Harris’swork,” acommittee formed underRev. Peter
Cunningham Clark, SuperintendentofHome M issions ofM ontgomery Presbytery, and the Rev. Edward E.
Lane, Pastorofthe Christiansburg Presbyterian Church, to build a series ofmission schoolsas a livingmemo-
rialinunderservedruralareas.3 By the fall of 1914, underthe auspices ofthe Presbyterian Home M ission, the
Harris M ountain Schoolsbecame areality with the opening ofthe firstschool at Shooting Creek onthe Floyd-
Franklin County line. Soon after, Amos Cannaday offered partofhis Floyd farm, and the Harris-Cannaday
School immediately commenced operation in a grove oflarge trees. Students used slab seats, their lessons
chalked on aplank blackboard nailed to a “giant chestnut” tree.4 After an unsuccessful attemptformore
permanence with a large tent, Cannaday donated 14 acresof
land, and with the Presbytery’shelp, construction began ona
three-story building for permanent classrooms. By the mid-
1930s, with enrollmentreaching 500 pupils, eight school build-
ings, including the 1922-23 Buffalo M ountain M ission School,
had been builtorbroughtinto the Harris M ountain Schools
system in Floyd, Franklin, Rockbridge, Carroll, and Bedford
Counties.5 The Presbyterian Home M ission created a success-
ful, substantialand meaningfultestamentto oneperson’slifeof
selfless enterprise. The Harris Mountain Schools’ stationery
commemoratedthe Rev.John KelloggHarrisas “A ManRich
and Unique in Gifts, Characterand Devotion.”6 This benevo-
lentminister, known affectionately as “The Shepherd ofFloyd,”7
lefta lasting legacy to the citizens ofhis beloved community.
Later,when his daughterreturned permanentlyto Floyd from
New York, Susan Harris Hallwould do the same.

John K. Harris and his wife Chloe devoted their lives
andtheirfortunesto missionary education, each independently
holdingteachingassignmentsin Indian Territory during the early
1850s, where both came to revere the particular mission for
the education of young women and girls. In 1851, Chloe
Bigelow, then a single woman, traveled to whatis now OKkla-

homfato teach fortwo and one halfyears at W heelock Female Old Presbyterian Church, built 1850,
Seminary, a school foryoungwomen ofthe relocated Choctaw (Courtesy Floyd County
tribe.8 W heelock, established in 1833 by Rev. Alfred Wright,9 Historical Society)

adedicated missionary and translatorofthe Choctaw language,

becamepartofthe Choctaw National School System in 1843.10

Itquickly became aprogressive educational model fornative American education within all o fthe five tribes.
(W heelock Academy is currently an endangered Oklahoma National Historic Site. See:
www.choctawnation.com/wheelock/wheelockl.htm.) Miss Bigelow was associated with Choctaw missionar-
ies, Kingsbury, and Cyrus Byington, who along with Wrightdeveloped a phonetic, written Choctaw lan-
guage.ll John Kellogg Harris was atthe same time, 1852-1854, in the same territory, teaching at National
School for Choctaws, mostlikely atnearby Norwalk.12 Aftertwo and one halfyears’ mission service as a
teacher, experiencing overwork and poorhealth, Chloe M. Bigelow prepared to leave the Choctaw N ation
andreturnhometo Vermont. She senther sister, Addie, “probably the last letter I shall everwrite you from the

37


http://www.choctawnation.com/wheelock/wheelockl

Choctaw Nation.” This letter contains the only briefmention o fherfuture husband: “Norwalk, Feb. 28,1854
— W hen Mr. Harris came in with the mail lastevening__ " 13
Both the Rev.and Mrs. Harris attended New England colleges steeped in the ethical doctrines of
benevolence and charitable evangelism. Chloe Bigelow, Susan’smother, studied brieflyatMary Lyon’s Mount
Holyoke College priorto 1850. The Protestantrevival ofthe 1790s-1820s builtits principles on the “Puritan
ethic ofusing education to enhance the experience ofGod’sword.” 4 By 1830-50, women’s increased re-
sponsibilities in the maternal vocation” o fchild rearing necessitated more schools for females. Mary Lyon
established MountHolyoke Seminary foryoungwomen in 1837, soliciting private funds afterthe General
Association ofCongregational Ministers opposed any support. Hermission o ftraining women for “useful
work in society [... ]Jimbued [her students] with notions o fself-sacrifice; many [MountHolyoke] graduates
became missionaries and teachers.” 15 Teachers in the Choctaw Nation included many graduates of Mt.
Holyoke, Dartmouth,andW illiams.16 John Kellogg Harris graduated from W illiams College, AB 1852, be-
longing to the Philotechnian Society (literary-debating) and the Mills Theological Society, whose members, for
the mostpart, devoted their lives to missionary goals.17
The Harrises kept careful written records oftheir missionary work and studies, though the Harris
familyjournals are sparse and to the point. Illuminating one well-worn diary ofJohn Kellogg Harris is the
scrupulous accounting o feach ofhis sermons atvarious Presbyterian stations in central Virginia, and the
poignantlistingsofhisrepeated preaching onthe march as chaplain forthe Confederate Army during more
than three years ofwar servrce. Thejournal begins on September 6,1858 asthe recently ordained minister
leaves hishome state ofNew YorkforministriesatKerr’s Creek, Rockbridge County,andNew Monmouth,
Virginia, positionsunderthe Lexington, Virginia Presbytery. Hejoined hiswife o fone year, then teaching at
Capt. Gilmore sfamily school for “10 or 12 young ladies” on Kerr’s Creek.18 His notes continuously
record his godly path through December24,1871, along with births, marriages, deaths, unusual weather,
and other events. The entries in this diary begin and end with sermon listings: “Monmouth — Sept. 12
(1858) Thou shaftlove the Lord thy God with all thy heart & ¢c.” And on the same day “Rehobothrfc
Unholy Character,” through to “December24 (1871) Humbled Himself. Mt.P.” (Mt. Pleasant). Butitwas
the one simple entry in flowing ochre scripton February 7,1869, thatcaughtmy attention and my interest:
“‘SusanMaria’bom.A.C.H.” (AmherstCourtHouse).19 The Harris’s fourth child, Susan M aria, was bom
in Virginiaand soon moved away with her family to Kentucky in September 1869. There, the Rev. Harris
began his pastorate ofthe Kirkwood Church in Harrodsburg, and assumed thejointposition with his wife
asprincipal ofthe Harrodsburg Female College.2
Timeandtime again, itappearedthat Susan M ariaHarris was destined to return to Virginia itisthe
second diary ofJohn Kellogg Harris,— “John K. Harris— Christiansburg, 1872” — thatreveals this
providence ofthe Harris family: Jan. 11,1872, “l leftHarrodsburg—; Jan. 13, “Reached Cbg 10P.M.”;
Mar. 19, “Wife & c. leftHarrodsburg”; Mar. 21, “(Wife & c.) reached xtnsbg 4 P.M.” W hile waiting for
his family to arrive from Kentucky, and before assuming his new ministry, the Rev. Harris spentthe winter
preaching in scattered regional locations— Christiansburg, Rocky Mount, Lovely Mount, and New River,
Mrs. Hudson’s, Mrs. Price’s, and Hairston’s— in churchesand in homes, some listed as “colored,” from
Januaryto March 1872. His sermons atthistime included “AlabasterBox,” “Paul May Plant,” “Preaching
Foolishness,” “Wrsdom Justified,” and “Sins as Scarlet”2l The entry for April 6,1872, is “Overcometh” —
and isthe very firstmention ofFloyd, the place where the Harrises would settle, the place that, overtime,
inspired adeeply held sentimental attachmentin the entire family. The Rev. Harris acceptedthe pastorate of
the Presbyterian Church atFloyd Courthouse officially on June 30,1872,2 and excepting an intervening
ministry in Red Cloud and Scotia, Nebraska, 1882-1889,23 he retained this position until his death at age
78,in 1910. The Harris family, the Rev. John K Harris, his wife Chloe, and their fourliving children, Clara
Elizabeth, John Leonard, Susan Maria, and infant M ary Adelaide, bom in Christiansburg M arch 27, ac-
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Old Floyd Courthouse, built 1851. (Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society)

companiedby John K. Harris’s father, John Harris, settled in the Town ofJacksonville (now Floyd), Floyd
County, Virginiain the spring of 1872. The relationship betweenthe Harris family and the town was lasting,
loving, and beneficial, and itbecame one thatultimately shaped the growth and spirito fthe community.
Susan MariaHarriswasbom atAmherst Courthouse, Virginiain 1869, coincidentally, the same year
asthebirth ofthe two majornationalwomen’s suffrage organizations, the National Woman Suffrage Asso-
ciation and American Woman Suffrage Association.24 Atthe age ofthree, she arrived in Floyd with her
parents, who true to theirmissionary-educators’nature quickly became community leaders. Thatyear, Harris
began teaching in the public school at Jacksonville. His records noted on Sept. 10,1872 that “School
opened. Floyd C.H.,” and with enthusiasm evident, on Sept. 20, Harris presented a “Speechin C.H. (Court
House) on Education.” Harris taughtatthe public free school from 1872to1878, ashis diary read: “Sept. 12
(1876) 5th Schoolopened. 60.” The closing o fthe public schoolin 1878 coincided with diminished support
payments from the Peabody Fund. By 1877, the fund, which had supported Southern education after the
Civil War, had shifted prioritiestoward teacher education. In 1875, as enrollmentatthe Jacksonville Acad-
emypublic school declined, John K. Harris, asprincipal, and his wife Chloe, as firstassistant, began a private
preparatory school, Jacksonville High School, teaching the subjects of “Greek, Latin, and highermathemat-
ics.”5 Thiswas the beginning ofthe Harris’s coeducational Oxford Academy, which opened sometime
between 1876-1878. Theiracademy enjoyed great success, with an average of35 to 86 studentsper year
duringthe period 1892 -1901.26 Harris instructed the higher grades: “him selfa scholar, Horace, Cicero, and
the Hebrew Bible were dearand familiar friends”;27 Chloe had charge ofthe younger students, providing a
good elementary education “based onthe Bible and the ‘3-Rs’.”28 The couple took personal interest in the
pupils, supplementing boarding fees ortuition, encouraging scholarship, and, every spring, taking their “entire
school” on overnightwagon tripsto Buffalo M ountain especially to watch the sunrise,2 orto the mill pond
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atthe Phlegarfarm forice-skating, where the students found itas “hard to match” Harris in “playing ‘shinny’
or cutting intricate figures onthe ice asto trip him in Virgil or mathematics.”3 Harris held two or more
pastoratesduring his Floyd tenure, one atFloyd Courthouse and anotherat Turtle Rock Presbyterian Church;
he was called onto preach atDillon’s Chapel, Cannaday, New Haven, Central, and Lovely Mount. The
popularministertraveled widely in the region, often preaching three sermons on a Sunday and several during
the week. “Many years” after his
death, a Presbyterian memorial
pamphletpraised John K. Harris:
“So different was he from us, so
original, his actions and hishumor
so full of unexpected quips and
turns,thatourschoolmasterbrought
toour.. livesthe charm ofnovelty
andromance__ [W]ell we knew
the tender love with which he
watched overus.”3
Sue accompanied her family
west in 1882 and remained with
them formostoftheir missionary
stay in Red Cloud and Scotia.3
Sueonce wrote thatherfatherhad
developed “preachers’ sore
throat,” and wentwestfora cure,
but mission opportunities on the
frontierpossibly influenced his de-
cision.8 Harris built and pastored
a church in Red Cloud; his wife

Red Cloud home, ca. 1882 taught Sunday School. A family let-

(Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society) terin 1883 reported theirprogress:
“Mr. Harris is stillworrying with his

church. Itis aboutdone. He is try-
ing to raise money forthe windows now. Our M ission Sab. Sc. isvery large and we had a grand supper for
itoneweek ago this evening.”

A decadepriorto theirtrip there were effusive letters from a cousin atthe Lincoln, Nebraska, office of
the “Burlington and M issouri RiverRailroad Co., in Nebraska” proclaiming the fertility, desirability, and
profitability ofwestern lands. Official governmentreports atthe timeread: “Nebraskais... richly agricul-
tural and pastoral where millions ofacres are almostdonated to the brave pioneers ofthe world.”3 Red
Cloud, established in 1870 and named forthe Sioux chief, wasby 1884 a fast-developing frontiertown with
apopulation ofalmostonethousand. The railroad, encouraging westward expansion, arrived in 1879, and
within five years even the town’s outskirts were inhabited. According to W illa Cather’s descriptions o fthe
same period in 1884, the Red Cloud community was a bohemian one, with many foreign imm igrants to
diversify the frontier experience.3® Scotia supported a Literary Society that Sue and her sister Mayday
participated in. Catherwrote perceptively o fthe Nebraska influence onyoungwomenin a characterdescrip-
tion ofthe fictional heroine in Tommy, the Unsentimental, “thatbluntsortoffamiliarity isnotinfrequentin the
west, and ismeantwell enough. People rather expectsomebusiness ability ina girl there, and they respectit
immensely.”3 The Harrises evidently farmed on the plains. Mayday Harris, interviewed in 1919 forthe New
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Oxford Academy, ca. 1897. (Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society)

York Commercial, commented on the Harris farm in Nebraska, mentioning the mechanical expertise re-
quired ofherand the otherchildren ontheranch there.3/

Although Chloereported home aboutthe beautiful vistas, bountiful harvest, picnics, and the wonderful
prairie blooms, Nebraskawas notthe perfectplace. Shaded summertemperatures reached 96 degrees, and
the family sleptwith an open doorcovered in gauze. OnDec. 31,1883, Chloe Harriswrote along letter from
Red Cloudto hersister Addie in Brattleboro, Vermont: “We are having our first cold spell. Itis so cold we
cannotleavethe fire... Itis so cold thatl cannotthink o fmuchbeside how cold itis. We haveno trees orhills
to break the wind and we getthe full benefitofit. We donotbum woodbutcoal.”3 Mrs. Harris’s health
declined severely inthe poorclimate, forcing the family to departNebraskain 1889. Thatsummer, John K.
Harris lectured atthe Floyd Institute, a month-long, Peabody Fund-sponsored, summernormal session for
teachers.® In September 1889, the Harrises reopened Oxford Academy, which had operated as Oxford
Seminary until 1886 with an interim director, the Rev. W.R. Coppedge.40 The year afterthe Harris’s return to
Virginia, lawyers’ letters began to arrive from Nebraska concerning foreclosure ofthe Harris house in Red
Cloud. The letters were interspersed with excuses fortenantproblems and rental difficulties on the property.
Aresulting lawsuitrequired Mr. Harris to send a $400.75 mortgagejudgmentto the Nebraska court.4

Susan leftNebraska earlierthan herparentsto stay with hermarried sister Clara, in Kentucky. In the
fallof 1887, atage 19, Sue Harrisbecame one of“eightwomen in anundergraduate departmentofabout
160 students” at Central University in Kentucky, where herbrother-in-law, Dr. James Tazewell Akers, was
the Ford ProfessorofEnglish.42 Although Sue Harris completed only one college course, naturally in English,
herrigorous youthful education atthe classically inspired Oxford Academy prepared herwell fora life of
learning. Atthe auction ofherbelongings in 1974, among the items listed were 1,200 books.43
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The Harrises enjoyed a lifelong affection forprolific personal correspondence. Family letters describe
pastlives and places, enlivened by evidence o fthe writerin the handwriting’splayful or serious mindsetor
mood. A letterwritten August 15,1896, pleads Mrs. Harris’s cause fortheir small, coeducational Oxford
Academy inthe TownofFloyd: “Ifl could only get $500 forthe girls ofthe county to board themselves and
cometo school. Itistheironly chance.” In 1899, Harris wrote his own particularprescription concerning
highereducation: “I believe in going to agood college and digging through a good course. Butl wouldtie a
plow around every undergraduate’sneck— & an axeto hisarm. Lethim rememberwhere he came from
and bestgo to — .” Other letters describe the town’s news ofthe day: “Frid. Jan 22nd 1908. 8:30 p.m.
Mr. Sowderisto build a structure between his brick office & Mr. PeterHoward’s House. Itis to connect
with the brick and accommodate better Mr. Sowder and the bank.”; “Wed. June 23rd 4 1/4 p.m. 1909
Sowderbusiness house (now the Blue Ridge Restaurant) nearly done. Outside stairs gone. W hole thing
looks village like & harmonizes.” The Hams-AKkers collection o fnineteenth-century family letters andjour-
nals reveals the family’sopen-minded, unprejudiced, sharp-witted, sentimental, worldly, and “dry, sly and
high” humor-laden personality. In 1899, from the pen ofRev. Harris: “Revenues captured 1100 gallonsof
whiskey lastnightand putitin Brack. Scott’s cellar for safe keeping. Everybody is drinking atit.”; “Wed,
May 30,6 p.m., 1906.1am tired. Nexttime, Sam Swinney [can] preach his own funeral.”;and sweetly, in
solitude after Chloe’s death in 1897, “Thewind blows [... ] The nightwind is an old and dear friend. It calls
to myvery heart. | love it.”4

“Papa” wrote to his “dear Sue,” on Sat. Nov.
1,1900: “You have been raised from the dead now
aboutthree times — once atDublin — then on the
nightofthe surgical operation— then on Sab. Night
Oct. 28th— . And I don’t know how many times in
Roanoke— besidesoncetryingto tearup the R.R. in
Nebraska.” (According to Arthur Akers, Sue was a
sleepwalkerand climbed offthetraininhernightgown;
the train departed, leaving her atthe station.) Rev.
Harris then added: “God does not send such most
uncommon deliverances withoutapurpose —.”

Ma She’sStory

S Harris Hall “ thi Ise.”

Sally and Betsy Hall, ca. 18, o pousan Harrs Hall was “something elc.
(Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society) rorty-five years atterherdeatn, the drop othertamii-
iarnickname “Ma Sue” still sparks a storm ofgleeful

enthusiasm. Spokenwith warmth and genuine affec-

tion, adjectives burstthick and fastfrom everyone she

knew. Inthe tape-recorded interviews, “unforgettable,” “irrepressible,” “intelligent,” “colorful,” “jun,” “de-

pendable, ‘tough, comical,” “opinionated,” “witty,” “well-read,” “outspoken,” “generous,” “obstinate,”

“well-known,” “honest,” “sharp,” “community-spirited,” and “all-’round-good-person” circled Sue Hall like
so many stars m a crown. W hen | asked each respondentto describe Mainjustone word, “caring” topped
the list. BillHayden, whose mothercooked for Ma Sue’sHotel Brame, related thatasayoungster he always
knew that M a Sue “cared the world ”’forhim. 1 heard more than once thatMa Sue had a “heartofgold,”
tempered, ofcourse, by her “taut,” “vitriolic,” and “salty” tongue. “Youdidn’t wantto cross her; she could tell
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Hotel Brame (Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society)

you offin 15 languages,” Bob Shelorconfided. Hazel Edwards, who lived with Ma Sue as a foster child,
confirmed, “She was tough, but she had to be that way; she would go head to head with the lawyers or
anyone, and they were biggerthan she was, and she would win!”

During hercareeratU.S. Steel Products in New Y ork City, Sue lived away from Floyd Comity. She
missed her childhood home and visited frequently, expressing her sentiments on a family postcard, once
writing that shejustwantedto liveup ontop o fthe Buffalo Mountain.&6 Ma Sue accomplished her dream of
returning “home” in 1916, where sheremained fortherestofherlife.46 Susan Harris Hall made her own way,
inherownway. Self-supporting throughoutmostofheradultlife, shereconciled personal impulsesofpro-
gressive popularism and unbounded humanitarian benevolence (wanting to “do” forpeople), with profes-
sional positions that satisfied herinstincts ofsocial service. “Her second love was the Red Cross,” Pete
Hallmantold me, and Sue Hallbecame best-known forherunceasing work to attain help forpeople in need.
Formore than three decades, she led locally administered social welfare programs and wartime family ser-
vices asthe American National Red Cross Executive Secretary for Floyd County.47 She “prided herselfin
knowing everyone in the county,” Maud Shelorrecalled. Ifanyone in Floyd County needed assistance, they
werejusttold, “Go see ‘Ma Sue.”’ In 1922,the character o feach ofthe 3,627 Red Cross Chapter offices,
small and large, reflected the needs o fthe local community. Red Cross chapters formed a very loose coalition:
“Thesepeople do asthey please, and the national organization can acceptitornot.”48 During the influenza
epidemic 0f 1918, Sue Hall stayed with one Floyd family three weeks, nursing them all back to health.4
ServicemanHemy B. Shelorreceived an unexpected call atbootcamp during World Warll; notknowing
thathis fatherwas ill, they told him only to return to Floyd. Susan Harris Hallhad quickly arranged a furlough
onhisbehalf.
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Summertime. (Courtesy Floyd County Historical Society)

Ma Sue Hall was out-of-the-ordinaiy, but I wasn’tprepared forthe impressive tally ofaccomplish-
ments as | neared the end ofmy accounting. Ateach step along the path ofdiscovery, investigation, and
documentation, as I gradually became more involved with the study ofher life in a contextual way, my
conviction grew, and my research confirmed, that Susan Harris Hall deserved the designation in herfront
page 1958 obituary: she truly wasa “living legend.” 3

SueHams married Jacob T.Hall on February 6,1890, and moved to Roanoke, where he held mana-
gerial and editorial positions atthe Roanoke (Daily) Times, and, later, the Southern WeeklyJournal.2 The
couplemetatOxford Academy years earlier, where Sue, age 11,and Jake, age 20, were listed in the roll call
0f1880-81 ;R it’sprobable that Jake was then a teacher at the school.

The Halls had two daughters, Mayday Harris Hall (Sally), 1891, and Elizabeth Bigelow Hall (Betsy),
1892. Widowed in 1898, herhusband succumbing to heart disease atage 37, Sue Harris Hall lefthertwo
small children with family in Floyd, and wentaloneto New Y ork City to study typewriting and stenography at
Packard’s, Broadway & 26th.%4 It wasn’t long before she was teaching the course, and by 1902 Sue was
fetching her daughters and her sister, Mary Adelaide (Mayday), to New York. Sue soon advanced to an
almost20-yearcareeratU.S. Steel Corp.in New York City.5% In his 1974 autobiography, her former son-
in-law observed evidence ofhersocial conscience asthe humanitarian office manageratU.S. Steelin 1915.
He wrote, “She had solved the problem ofthe handicapped and underprivileged. She grouped them in
various departments, all the blind, the paraplegics, and those retarded by language.”% She was a single
motherin managementwhen women totaled lessthan 20 percentofthe national workforce, atatime when
this statistic represented mostly nonprofessional, factory, orteaching positions.5
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Sally and Betsy stayed with theirmotherand auntat 204 W. 114th St.in New York for 14years. Both
childrenexemplifiedthe Hairis family ideals. Betsy founded the City History Club atherhigh schoolwhere
shewas forfouryears class President. She graduated from Barnard with many celebrated accom plishments,
including Presidentofthe FeministForum, executive comm ittee memberofthe Barnard and Socialist Club,
literary editor ofthe Barnard Bear, memberofthe Columbia Common Sense League, and delegate and
elected delegation secretary to Henry Ford’s 1915-16 Peace Expedition aboard the Oscar Il to Norway
andtheHague. 8B Betsy married a Broadway lyricist, Howard Dietz (“Dancing in the Dark”), and became a
published writer with ties to those in the Algonquin Round Table, a literary clique in New York City. Sally
attendednursing schoolin W ashington, D.C ., returning to Floyd withhermotherin 1916 to become manager
atthe HotelBrame in Floyd. As did hermother, Sally appreciated and documented local Floyd history; she
alsopossessed alifelong love ofnature. Finding sundry wild critters in residence attheirhome wasn’tunusual.
Anearlyphoto inthe Floyd County Historical Society collection pictures Sally with three otheryoung ladies,
allinapristine white dresses, standing in frontofthe old courthouse in Floyd. Sally is clutching a large, black
duck.Apairofcagedgrey squirrels, Sally’s pets, accompanied Betsy as mascots on her ocean expedition to
Norway; reporters and photographershad a field day.®

InAmerican social history, Susan Harris Hall’s life o fself-empowerment stands outas a marker forthe
tum -of-the-nineteenth century Progressive Eravanguard. Thispoliticalmovementinthe early 1900s sought
“to increasepopularparticipation inthe American system,” “to alleviate the ills o fsociety” with agovernment
more responsibletoward social welfare andjustice.5l Sue Harris’s confident, independentnature, combined
with avery unique setofcircumstances— the personalities, principles and experiences ofherparents, her
upbringing inthe smallcommunity ofFloyd, the freedoms experienced by women inthe westand in the
progressive areaso tNew v o rk City where she hved — all influenced Sue’s path.

In 1916 atage 47, when Susan Harris Hallreturned to Floyd from New Y ork, she did so with a single-
minded desire: to purchasethe landmark Brame Hotel onthe town square. She owned and ran this establish-
mentand its dining room with her daughter Sally formore than 12 years, retiring (ifthatterm is applied
loosely) in 1929 to acottage compoundnamed “Summertime.” Shetook inboardersthere and hosted entire
road and Parkway crews during theirworktenures.@ One story tells ofa local person getting a speeding
ticketin South Carolina a few years ago; taken to the magistrate forprocessing, hishome ofFloyd was
noted. Thejudge only asked, “Doesthat old lady still live up there? Does she still have thatparrot?” Ma
Sue’splace wasthe stuffoflegend, apowerful presence even as | watched it decline.

AfterWorldWarl, Maimmediately involved herselfin county affairs, assuming hands-on nursing and
family assistance responsibilities as Floyd’s Red Cross Secretary.6l Her work continued through all ofthe
depression era 1930s; atatime when social services sat solely under local control, she was the county
welfare worker, oftentimes withoutpay. Sue traveled anywhere there was aneed, orwherever someone
neededhelp. Shewouldjustgo. Sheheldthe postofProbation Officerfrom 1930-31,andatage 65 hadher
ownoffice as County ReliefDirectorunderFER A funding.& Hervaried roles included bem ganews reporter
forthe FloydPress, a stringer (paid by the inch) correspondent forthe Roanoke Times, a contributorto The
Pommonwealth. Red Cross liaison for soldiers’families during W orld War 11, official U.S. weather ob-
server,8 a country midwife or mortician when necessary, and, atthe age of51, an adoptive motherofa 13-
month-old baby girl. My favorite ofM a Sue’s news headlines was in the Roanoke Times, September 1937:
“Frostand Prosperity HitFloyd Together.”

My firstencounterw ith SusanHarris Hall occurred more than fourteenyears ago. I have the penciled-
inpaperthatstartedmy quest: “VirginiaDivision ofH istoric Landmarks: Historic District: BriefSurveyForm:
28 Mar. 1988.” Inthemiddle ofthe work onthe VirginiaDepartmentofH istoric Resources histone buildings
survey inthe Town ofFloyd, someone pointedto an old house hidden beyondthe back ofthe Jacksonville
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cemetery. “Summertime,” they said, “M a Sue Hall’shouse.” Beating myway through the brambles, | snapped
three black and white photos and drew a sketch o fthe cottage and site plan. The architectural details are few,
butunderlandscape features, I listed the formidable remains ofher gardens: “Overgrown specimens: rhodo-
dendron covering front; flowering bulbs; crocus; narcissus; starofBethlehem; yucca; huge yew tree; remains
offlagstone edging; old rose trellis; stone stepsto a depressed abandoned roadway atarched trellis entry.”&
I keptreturning to take more photographs. Overtime, the building collapsed inward, crushed by debris from
Hurricane Hugo, and, in 1995, all perishable evidence of“Summertime” burned to the ground in a suspicious
fire.

In 1990, asameans ofpreservation and with historic importance in mind, | made negatives ofmany
images in heralbums atthe Floyd County Historical Society. In 2001,1produced a shortcomputer-gener-
ated film onthe life and times of Susan Harris Hall,& and included a sampling of photographs from the

collection. Using a cameralens,
video footage, tape-recorded
interviews, and period music,
the final film sketch featuresthe
lady who, in 1912, came to
town with the Kodak Brownie:
the indomitable, irrepressible,
andprincipled “Ma Sue” Hall,
pictured within the sounds and
sights o fthe Floyd County set-
tings in which shethrived. Nar-
rated entirely by those who
knew and remembered Ma
Sue, the recollections endorse
this grand lady and her family
with firsthand impressions and
connections not possible in
more formal accounts. The na-
ture of oral history, as Pete
Hallman, former editor ofthe
FloydPressexplained in hisin-
terview, may not“be exactly the
way ithappened, butitwasthe
way itwastold.”

MBS, SIfIASS XTAXREH HAUL
. “3la and- P-olly it WAWK

“Ma Sue” Hall Laid to Rest in

J&CkSOﬂVI”G Cemetery; Life W as One

Of Service to People of Floyd County
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WhatDo W e Leave Behind?

By AnnaFariello

Forfour hundred miles through Virginia, the Blue Ridge is essentially a single longfin,
only a mile or two wide, notched here and there with deep, V-shapedpasses called gaps
but otherwise holding generally steady at about 3,000feet, with the broad green Valley
o fVirginia stretching o ffto the Allegheny Mountains to the westand lazypastoralpied-
mont to the east. So here each time we hauled ourselves to a mountaintop and stepped
onto a rocky overlook, instead ofseeing nothing but endless tufted green mountains
stretching to the horizon, we gotairy views ofa real, lived-in world: sunnyfarms, clus-
tered hamlets, clumps o fwoodland, and winding highways, all made exquisitelypictur-
esque by distance.

- Bill Bryson, A Walkin the Woods

he exhibition, “Arcadian Monuments,” organized and circulated by the VirginiaM useum ofFine Arts
tatewide Exhibitions Program, was on view last spring atthe History Museum and Historical
‘ociety ofW estem Virginia. The colorimages displayed in the Shaftman Gallery were intentionally
manticized images o fthe “real, lived-inworld” viewedby Bill Bryson from his hike along the Appalacian
Trail.

The 30 photographsthatmade up the show were selected from alargerbody ofphotographs thatl
began making in the early 1990s as a silent protest in the face ofa not-so-dignified end to a magnificent
antebellum homestead. | first saw italone on abare hillside, atwo-story homeplace with columns and a small
portico. By thetime | encounteredthatlonely mansion atthe end ofthe 20th century,no one had lived there for
years. Thebuilding wasbeyond habitation, lightpiercing its empty interior.

“Rock Road” seemed a fitting address forthe venerable structure, surely the bedrocko falong-faded
community. The house stood apartfrom the ever-widening asphaltroad before it. It stood in stark contrastto
the new homes springing up around it. It stood proudly as a stately reminder ofanothercentury. It stood simply
asamonumentto generationsofliveslived and lostalongthe way. The Rock Road house continuedto intrigue
me until, one day, | decided to make its portrait. | spentan afternoon exploring its farcomerswith my camera.
Irecorded its dark interior, its faded exterior, and its sunny surroundings. During thatafternoon, | imaginedthe
many generations ofchildrenwhoplayed amongthe wildflowers andwoods surrounding a small space claimed
from Nature by their forebears.

Afterseeingthe initial photos, I plannedto return to shootacouple ofmorerolls offilm. Atthe time |
couldnothave knownthatthe fate o fthatRock Road house would be the catalystforwhatwould amountto
adecade-longphotographic preoocupation. One day | happenedto be driving along Rock Road and glanced
tothe place wherethe house stood. My planofre-photographing itidly passedthroughmymind and I mentally

Anna Fariello is owner of Curatorial InSight, a consulting firm providing research, development and
curatorial services to non-profits and private collectors. She is currently doing research for the 2003
Smithsonian Folklife Festival and is on the faculty of Virginia Tech.
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calculated how long ithad been since my firstvisit. My reverie was interrupted by not seeing the house
immediately. | looked again and doubled back, believing | was atthe wrong place inthe road. Butthe factwas,
the house was gone. W here once stood atwo-story homeplace wasnothingbuta grassy field. The Rock Road
house had completely vanished, withoutatrace ofits presence in evidence anywhere. Tome this seemedthe
cruelest fate, to be erased from history so completely, to be gone from allmemory, for all eternity.

The photographic series Arcadia documents the cultural landscape ata single pointintime. Itis
intendedto capture the fading presence o faregional identity thatis quickly being replaced by anational facade
offast-food franchises, suburbantracthouses, and multinational businesses. Small creeks and roads m eetthis
same fate and, as we develop the technologies to carve away atthe steepestofourmountainsides, we entera
new era ofdestruction. Aswe turn the pages ofour calendars, we willjustas surely witness the continued
destruction ofournatural and builtlandscape as | had witnessed the destruction o fthe Rock Road homestead.
Aswe makeroom forexpanded interstates and “smart” roads, willwe rememberwhere we are orwho we
are?

Rural heritage has been overlooked atatime whenthe culture of“other” has been celebrated; we
overlook other-ness close to home. Afterthe disappearance ofthe house on Rock Road, | became aware of
the importance o fthese fading— and faded — surroundings, not fortheiractual worth, but fortheir meta-
physical worth. | decided to record the presence ofrural Appalachian architecture while there was still some
leftto record. Agrarian homesites are found in everdecreasing numbers. Once common and unique to the
region, vernacularagrarian architecture— structures thatcreate a visual sense o fplace— is eroding. Ironi-
cally,rural America is endangered.

Agrarian architecture grew from physical necessity. Itis understated. Its design is an expression of
function. Its stark exteriorand lack o fsuperfluous decoration is sometimes confused with poverty. Butitis this
very simplicity and lack ofpretense that defines the beauty ofthis regional form. There is something wonder-
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fully smallabouthuman-made structuresbuilt
into the rural landscape. Theyblend into their
environmentandunderscorethe majesty ofN a-
ture by their smallness and theirhumility. They
arethe architectural opposite ofskyscrapers,
which appearto dominate the landscape and
proclaim an indestructibility. In contrast, rural
homesteads allow us to feel the expanse and
powerofNature, evoking feelings ofawe and
grandeur.

Aesthetically, pioneerhomesteads and
the landscape they inhabitare one; they look
as ifthey grew from the soil. They appearinte-
gral to the landscape, a wooded trunk sup-
porting acanopy oftin. The oldestofthese are
reverting to Nature. No longerhuman-ized,
they revertto the Wild. Their sole inhabitants
are cowsorbales ofhay. They are abandoned,
discarded, soon to be destroyed. They are
worthless architecturally, worthless commer-
cially,and worthless financially. They can nei-
ther contain anything ofvalue, norkeep out
the elements.

My version ofParadise exists in the
rural landscape and sense ofplace found in
the southern Appalachians. Itappearstome a
place with fluid geographic boundaries spilling
from modern-day Virginia into neighboring
states, meandering acrossridges and dipping into dark hollows. Arcadiarefersto an ancientland ofmilk an
honey, a paradise lost. According to legend, peacefulpeoples once lived free from strife and care, in perfect
harmony with theirenvironmentand the animal community. Nature retained her character as M other and
benevolentfriend. Inthose halcyon days, humanity wasunobtrusive and in keeping with the elements. Tradi-
tionalmythologies andreligions are filled with such places called Eden, Atlantis, or Peaceable Kingdom.Did
suchplacesexistinthephysicalworld? Can suchaplace existtoday?Forme, Arcadia exists in the presentas
itdidin the past, asaplace ofthe mind and spirit,ratherthan an actual place on the planet. It continues to exist
today in childhood, indreams andreverie, and in hopeful imaginings.

Throughmy photographs, | attemptto take the vieweron animaginaryjourney through a pastoral and
meditative space inhabited by understated monumentsto the rural and naturalworld, remnants ofan old world
imposed upon the new. The images in Arcadian Monuments are intended to sharpen one’sawareness to the
experiential perception ofseeing, aprocess | sometimes call “deep seeing.” Itis importantto recognize Arcadia
inourown fives,wheneverorwhereverwe may stumble into it. The sublime could be rightnextdoorand many
ofuswouldpasswithoutnotice.

W hileitisimportantto dream agrand future andmind-walk in the reverie ofourpast, ourpresentis
made more meaningful by threads o fmaterial culture which form the connectivetissue ofourhumanity. During
the latterhalfofthe 19th century, the physical remains ofculture were valued, no matterhow tattered orworn.
These lostfavorinthe 20th, asthe new century came to representaclean break from the past. Butbefore we
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ushered in the age ofM odernism and a love for new-ness, W estern culture revered the pastas awindow to
understanding and self-realization. Suchaview wasmanifestin English gardensinwhich “ruins” were intention-
ally constructed to create avisual link to heritage and culture. In America, we picked up this thread in the
construction of“garden” cemeteries, pastoral environments visited by harried urban citizenry in the Victorian
era. In cemeteries such asthese, one can still come upon a “broken” column or “vine-covered” monument.

The builtenvironmentis filled with stories; some are real, some imagined. Sheltercame inthe form of
modest structures in Arcadia, like many throughoutrural Americatoday. In theirtime, each was the physical
manifestation ofsomeone’sdream. W hen we are content, we pretend these rural hom esteads were filled with
happiness. When we are sad, we can pretend they were filled with melancholy. Small dwellings watch as
mortals come and go, witness ourbirth, ourgrowth, our flowering, ourwithering, ourdecay. Dwarfed by the
majesty o fthe Appalachian mountains, modest structures stand patiently in contrastto busy inhabitants who
scurry like antsthrough life. Theirs is a different sense o ftime, atime notmeasured in days and months, butin
centuries and eons.

Gravity works around the clock to rearrange the original com position designed by some unknown
craftsman. Slowly and relentlessly the elements invade their space. Time takes itstoll. Nature reclaims whatis
leftoftheirgrandeur. Tendrils o ffast-growing vegetation firstspread along foundations, catching fast like little
children’s fingers atM other’shem. Soon the tenacious vines enfold the clapboard sides, weavingin and outof
windows, eventually laying claim to the roof. Theroofno longer keeps outthe rain, the floor meets the earth
below, the walls lean this way and that. Overtaken by nature, vines intrude into its privacy, clawing atits faded
domesticity. The floorno longerpromises support, becoming precipitously dangerous, discouraging allbuta
few brave souls who dare to enter.

Dirtfloors sproutnew saplingswhich reach outto sunlightthrough broken windows. They are in ruin,
yetlive on,becoming more and more apartofthe landscape with each passing day. The view from each
window istransformed. Itismagicalto lookup and see apiece ofsky surrounded by a picture frame o frafters.
In some ways, the transformation ofthese decaying, hapless buildings elevates them from the realm o fthe
everyday to the realm ofthe sublime. Once stout structures are pulled downward into the waiting arms of
M otherEarth, like the body ofa loved one laid to restin warm ground.

In late afternoon, whenthe sunis low and light cuts across the landscape, homesteads which dotthe
rural Appalachian countryside are bathed in awarm, yellow glow. Likerichly encrusted Byzantine icons, they
are hallowed andhalo-ed. They are the wizened, martyred saints o fourcommunities. ThisisourHerculaneum,
ourParadise, our Arcadia. Ourmountainous landscape is itselfweathered by time and elements that cycle
round spingrain, summerheat, autumn drought, winter freeze. Butthe hills are notthe worse forwear.
Tuckedamongthem are a few remainingregional, vernacularhomesteads, containing remnants ofpast fives.
Theyarerelicsofourown nearpast. They are ourarcheology. We exittheirdoors as we leave this life, leaving
behind the fruits ofour labors and loves. W hathave we made? Whatdo we leave behind asamark ofout
passing throughthis place?
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How Andrew Lewis Drove Gov..Dunmore outof
Viiginia (Gwynn’sIsland Revisited)
By Candy Daugherty

The Roanoke Valley’s favorite son ofthe revolutionary period, General Andrew Lewis, isremem-
bered fortwo crucial battles. AtPointPleasantin 1774, he commanded a force ofwestern Virginians against
the Shawnee, and in victory secured the Ohio River frontier from furtherattack. The story ofPointPleasanthas
beenwelldocumented in the history books.

Butlesswellremembered isthe Battle of Gwynn’s Island, wherein the General who had ended the
Indian threatevicted from anewly independentVirginiaherlast British governor.

John Murray, Earl ofDunmore, had arrived in Virginia, the largestand wealthiest o fthe 13 colonies, in
1771 following agovemorship inNew York. Although initially unhappy with his reassignment, Dunmore em-
braced his position and used his authority forhisown personal gain. W estward expansion was forbidden to the
colonists by British authority and strictly enforcedby Dunmore, but settlementofnew territory was inevitable.
Foreventhe governorhimselfwas speculating on land claims.

In 1774, following violentIndian raids on white settlements, Dunmore ordered an expedition into
Western Virginia. InDunmore’s War, orthe Battle ofPointPleasant, Andrew Lewis, residentofRichfield on
the Roanoke, led the defense, while Dunmore failed to arrive in time forthe fight. Unbeknownstto Lord
Dunmore, the nexttime the two comradeswould meeton the field ofbattle, they would be adversaries.

Overthe nextyear, relations between the British and the colonists rapidly decayed. In response,
DunmoreinJuly 1775 gathered whatBritish forceswere available, as well as loyalist supporters, and housed
them in vessels harbored in Hampton Roads. Using this as abase foroperations, Dunmore dispatched priva-
teersto patrolthe bay. The Chesapeake Bay,the mouth ofwhichwas controlled by Virginia, provided deepwater
access ideal for sailing large trade vessels into Pennsylvania, Delaware and Maryland, as well as Virginia.

The Tidewaterregion included some ofthe colonies’largestportcities - Norfolk, Hampton and
Portsmouth - andwasthe outletfrom whichmostofthe colonies’tobacco was shippedto the West Indies in
exchange fornecessary staples. Dunmorerealizedthatifthe very wealthy andpersuasive Virginiacolony were
loyalto the King, then it could quite possibly curb the pending rebellion throughoutthe region. Seizing colonial
vessels on the slightest ofpretenses, privateers confiscated needed supplies and broughtthem back to the
governor. W ith the supportofBritain’s RoyalNavy, mostnotably Commodore Andrew S. Hammond, Dunmore
controlled the watersin which his “floating town” disrupted trade from Pennsylvaniato Georgia.

Tensionsran high in Hampton Roadsinthe summerof1775. M ilitia forces had. gathered in an attem pt
to fortify the city against raiders in search ofnecessities. W ith more and more Loyalists loading their most
belovedtreasures onto vessels andjoining Dunmore’s fleet, the need for staples and supplies increased. Raids
were more frequentand increasingly violent. Vacated Loyalisthomes and businesses were often vandalized
and in some cases torched by hostile patriots. In Octoberof 1775, British reinforcements arrived from St.
Augustine; however,as Dunmore’s forces grew in numbers, so did colonial militia troops. In November,
Dunmore acted onVnginia’shiggest fear and issued the firsteveremancipation proclamation, stating:

Candace “Candy” Daugherty, a Roanoke County library assistant, is a regular contributor to Salem
Historical Society3 quarterly publication, Guide to Historic Salem. She home-educates her two daughters
and has attended Virginia Western Community College.
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"And | herebyfurther declare all indentured Servants, Negroes, or others (appertaining
to Rebels)free, thatare able and willing to bearArms, theyjoining his M ajesty$ Troops. ”

Those freed slaves willing to take up arms and fightalongside ofthe British were recruited into Dunmore’s
Royal Ethiopian Regiment. Viewed as an actofwar, Dunmore’stactic angered and frightened mostVirginians

already fearful ofa slave uprising. Northerners and
Southerners alike thoughtDunmore’s tacticsto be ex-
treme.

Loyalists aboard the “floating town” still had
strong family and economic tiesto Norfolk and were
frequently coming to shore fornecessities. Sporadi-
cally placed snipers concealed in vacated buildings
alongthe wharfdid little to discourage the raids. Patri-
otsreasonedthatifthe city were destroyed, Dunmore
and his forceswould have to move on. The opportu-
nity presented itselfNew Years Day, 1776.

British troops landedundera coverofnaval
gunnery and setfireto 19 vacated buildings knownto
have harbored militia snipers. Chaos and confusion
followed. Patriot forces, seizing the moment, either
burned orallowed to bum 863 buildings. With pow -
erful coastal winds to fan the flames, the fifth largest
city in all the colonies disappeared in three days. As
word ofthe conflagration made its way to the North-
ern cities, the British wereblamed, though patriotcom -
manders were also culpable in Norfolk’s destruction
and used the tragedy to great advantage as propa-
ganda.

W hile Norfolkwasburning, Colonel Andrew
Lewiswas attending the fourth Virginia Convention in
W illiamsburg. Previously in August, Patrick Henry had
been appointed commanderofViiginia’sregiment, an
appointmentbased more upon popularity than capa-
bility. Lewis, whose military experience faroutweighed
thatofHenry, declinedthe offerofa subservientcom-
mand. However, not long afterthe Fourth Virginia
Conventionhad adjourned, Henry’sregimentof 1,300
volunteers had been accepted as Virginia’s quota for
the Continental Armyand on March 1,the newly com-
missioned officerswere announced.

The location of Gwynn3 Island, between
Gloucester and Virginia$ Eastern Shore, is
shown in this map of the lower Chesapeake Bay.
(From The Governor’s Island, by Peter Jennings
Wrike)

The Philadelphia Congress had appointed M ajor General Charles Lee commander ofthe Southern
Departmentofthe Armyandnamed Andrew Lewis and RobertHowe ofNorth Carolinabrigadier generals
beneath him. Henry, furiousthatLewisand Howe were promoted above him, resigned immediately. Lewis’s
appointmentputhim in control ofall the Virginiatroops and on March 18,1776, he assumed command.

Justlingering offN orfolk’s coastloomed Lewis’sadversary and his fleetofover 80 Tory ships, includ-
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ingthe warships Foweyand Otter. Lewis arrived in Hamptonin May,justintime to find Dunmore and his fleet
preparing to sail. Initially, he saw them “stand outto sea, butinstantly tacked aboutandranup the Bay....”
Dunmore’s suspected destination was Gwynn’s Island, a2,200-acre island on the northern end of Gloucester
County. Inareportto Lee, Lewiswas critical o fthe local civilians, who had failed to tell him ofthe flesh water
and livestock available onthe island so thatitcould be removed before Dunmore reached it. Before Lewis

A painting of Gen. Andrew Lewis at Gwynns Island, by
Anne Bell, hangs in the Salem Civic Center.

could finish the report,amessengerarrived
to confirm thatthree to four hundred of
Dunmore’stroops hadjusttaken up resi-
dency on Gwynn’s Island.

W hile Dunmore waited there, events
inVirginiamovedrapidly. Virginia’s lead-
ership unanimously adopted aresolution
forindependence and began the process
offorming a new state government. The
Convention appointed Patrick Henry gov-
ernorofthe newly established Common-
wealth June 29, the same day Virginia’s
state constitution, writtenby Thomas Jef-
ferson, was recorded. These resolutions,
radical and revolutionary, were the begin-
ning ofthe end ofnearly 170 years o fBrit-
ish rale. Soon afterthe Continental Con-
gress adopted Jefferson’s Declaration of
Independence, General Lewis decided it
wastimeto rid Virginia o fthe lastvestiges
ofroyal control.

Themorning ofJuly 9 arrived with a
lowtide and little breeze. Atapproximately
8:30am , GeneralLewishimselfaimedand
fired the first 18-pound cannon directly at
the Dunmore, the governor’s flagship, hit-
tingthe stem andtraveling the entire length
ofthe vessel. The second shotto hitthe
Dunmore, also fired by Lewis, again hit
the stem, killed the governor’s sailing mas-
terinstantly, and destroyed Dunmore’sfine
china. Shrapnel from these attacks slightly
injuredthe governor slegs.

The low tide caused several ves-
sels, including the Otter, to be grounded;
thusthey were vulnerableto attack. Atthe

first shot, Hammond ordered the Rowbucks boats to tow these vessels outofcannonrange; simultaneously,
GeneralLewis ordered the American battery to begin firing onthe island. The already heavily 6anaagedDunmore
washitby nearly every patriotshotaimed ather. Amazingly, Dunmore’s crew was able to return fire, butthe
cannonswere too smalland the Americantroopswere too fortified fortheir shotsto be effective. Dunmore, in
retreat, ordered the anchor cables cutand his vesseltowed outofrange.
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GeneralLewis’spatriotbatteries had the advantage thatday. From “CricketHill,” the height advan-
tagemade Dunmore’sships easytargets and retaliation difficult. (Thename “CricketHill” derived from Dunmore’s
likening Lewis’troopsto “CricketsonaHill,” forthey disturbed his sleep with their cajoling.) With a low tide
andno breeze, the only effective way to move the “floating town” from such confined waters was towing. Few
loyalists wanted to row aboatto safety inthe midstofallthe gunfire.

Thatnight, undercoverofdarkness, loyalists gathered what suppliesthey could in preparation to sail
the nextmorningto St. George’slisland in the Potomac. Vesselsthatcould be repaired were patched enough
to make aday’sjourney north;those deemed notseaworthy were burned. Atdawn onthe morning o fjuly 10,
as Dunmore and his “floating town” sailed up the Chesapeake, General Lewis gavethe order for Lieutenant
ColonelAlexander M cClanahan and his battalion o fthe 7thVirginiato go ashore. W hatthey found thatmorn-
ing greatly disturbed them. M cClanahan’stroops “were struck with horrour (sic) atthe numberofdead bod-
ies, in a state ofputrefaction (sic), strewed all the way from their battery to Cherry Point.”

Smallpox aswell asjail feverhad ravaged the “floating town” and a lack o fclean water, nutritious
food, and adequate medical treatmentallowed disease to flourish. The dead and dying as well as those quar-
antined andtoo ill to travel were simply leftbehind. Due to fear ofcontam ination, the troops burned the
quarantine campswithmany dying still inside.

General Lewis ordered troops to follow the exodus ofships up the Chesapeake to be assured that
Dunmorewouldnotland elsewhere in Virginia. AsDunmore and his loyalists sailed into M aryland waters, they
had become exiles.

Few peopletoday have everheard ofsuch aplace as Gwynn’sisland and fewer still can testily to its
significance. General Andrew Lewis had successfully dislodged Lord Dunmore from histemporary postonthe
island andwas able to preventhis “floatingtown” from reestablishing itselfelsewhere. Thisvictory then began
Virginia’sindependence, and aresidentofourown valley had made itpossible.
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Who Named Salem?

By John Long

ur Salem can claim many special distinctions, buta unique name is notone ofthem. The name

alem for a town or city is one ofthe most common in the U.S.— some 35 other states feature

Salem ontheirmaps. Some states can claim more than one, including Virginia. M arshall in Fauquier
County was originally named Salem; there are parts ofthe Virginia Beach area, and Culpeperand Page
counties, thatbearthis venerable name. The origin ofthe word is Biblical, an abbreviation ofJerusalem, and it
means “peace.” The traditional Jewish greeting, “Shalom,” is a varianto fthe same word.

Salem, Virginia is neitherthe oldestnorthe youngestplace to bearthis name. The town was founded
when James Simpson, a somewhatmurky characterin the historical record, laid outa grid oflots on 31 acres
ofhis land astride the GreatWagon Road. He began selling these lots in 1802, butin 1804 divested himselfof
mostofhisVirginiaholdings and moved forunknown reasonsto Alabama.

Perhapsbecause ofhis sudden disappearance from the area, agreatmystery has always surrounded
the origins ofthe name of Salem. Who named the town 200 years ago? W hy? Apparently no one deemed
these questions importantenoughto record an answer.

However, there isatraditional accountofthe naming of Salem thathasbeenrepeated many times,
often enoughto be considered dogmaby many local history buffs. Itappearsin the two mostrecentsurveysof
local history: Norwood M iddleton’s Salem: A Virginia Chronicle and Deedie Kagey’s History o fRoanoke
County (Kagey citesherinformationbackto Middleton). According to the prevailing theory, the name Salem
was imported from New Jersey by the Bryan family. William Bryan, known as The Emigrant, and his son,
William Jr.,movedto thisareain the 1740s from Salem,N.J., They settled alongthe GreatRoad where a fresh
spring bubbled to the surface—the area known today as Lake Spring Park in Salem. As faras many are
concerned, they broughtthe name Salem with them.

Thisisan entirely plausible theory; however, ithas always seemedto thisresearcherthatitpresents a
problem: itvirtually bypasses James Simpson, Salem’s founder.Did he have no role in namingthe town he laid
outhimselfonproperty he owned?W hatevidence isthere to supportthe“Bryan theory” ofthe name’s origin?
W hat can we deduce from the scantdocumentary evidence of Salem’s early days?

Thefirstquestionto askisthe genesis ofthe “Bryantheory.” The originator seemsto be a Salem native
by the name ofThornton W haling. Aftergrowing up here, W haling became a Presbyterian pastor, serving the
Jackson Memorial Churchin Lexingtonand eventually serving aspresidentof the Union Theological Seminary
in Louisville. He had aparticularinterestin local history and genealogy, especially the Bryan family, from which
he was a descendant.

In 1926, W haling helped to place a markerin Salem’sWestHill Cemetery to mark the graves of
W illiam Bryan, his son, and his son’swife, M argaretWatson. On the dedication day, W haling gave a speech
which (as faras | can tell) was the earliestpublic appearance ofthe Bryan theory: “the lovely old town of
Salem...whose very name [the Bryans] broughtwith them.” (quoted in The Roanoke Times, Sept. 9,1926)
The same basic information appears in the Salem TimesRegisteredition commemorating Roanoke County’s
centennialonMay 27,1938, quoted asarecentletter from W haling onpage 127. W haling doesnotidentify a

John Long director ofthe Salem Museum, is a graduate ofRoanoke College and holds a master3 degree
in history from the University of Virginia. He is an adjunct history professor at Roanoke College and the
author of South of Main: A History ofthe Water Street Community of African Americans m Salem.
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source forthis information, butseemsto hintthatitwas a family oral tradition.

Thatthe theory was notin vogue earlierthan 1926 is evidenced by its om ission from the earliest
sources for local history. William McCauley, inhis chapteron Salem’s founding inthe 1902 History o fRoanoke
County, prepared for Salem’s Centennial, wrote, “itwould be amatter ofinterestto know who suggested the
name ofthe town, buton thispoint, tradition is silent.” (page 138) Itis interesting to note that W haling was
invited to be a speakeratthe Centennial Celebration, buthad to decline atthe lastminute. Otherwise, he may
have provided an answerto M cCauley’s question.

Noristhe Bryan theory mentioned in George Jack’s 1912 History o fRoanoke County.

W hatactual evidence, then, isthere to supportW haling’shypothesis? Scarcely any. Forone thing, the
mostprominentBryansmay have been dead several years before Salem was laid. W illiam Bryan the Emigrant
died in 1786, and W illiam Bryan Jr. died in 1796, assuming thatthe dates on W haling’s aforementioned 1926
grave markers are accurate. Some sources give William Jr.’s death as 1806, butthis may have only been the
year his will was probated. Many ofthe other Bryans in the area moved west, and ofthe relatives who
remained inthe area, none appearto have been leaders ofearly Salem, since theirnames are notamong the
early settlers o fthe town.

Norwasthe Bryan land partofthe original town. Rather, itwas aboutamile up the road, a consider-
able distance considering Simpson’stown was only a few blocks long.

Furthermore, it stands to reason thatifthe Biyansbroughtthe name with them, itwould have been in
use priorto Simpson’s creation ofthe town. Buttheirland was always referred to as “Bryan’s on Roanoke,”
areferenceto the riverthatadjoinedthe farm, and an examination (although notan exhaustive one) ofearly
deeds forthe area fails to show an appearance ofthe name Salem priorto 1802.

So, ifthe Bryan theory seemstenuous atbest, who named Salem? A good candidate, though nota
proven one,wouldbe Simpson himself, based on anumberofpieces ofcircumstantial evidence.

First, itis worthwhile to find the earliestuse ofthe name Salem. It appears to be the deed which is
Salem’s “birth certificate.” On June 4,1802, Susanna Cole purchased from Simpsona lotofland inthe newly
laid-outtown along the Great Road, a transaction traditionally taken as the founding o fthe town. The lotis
described as such: “which Lottorpiece ofGroundisinaplan ofa Town laid offby the said James Simpson
nearwhere sd. Simpson now lives which Town is now known by the name o fSalem.” (Botetourt County
Deed Book 7, page 731; italics mine)

Interestingly, the word “now” was edited in with a caret. W hatdoes this signify, ifanything? I fnothing
else, itseemsreasonable to assume thatthis indicates the areahad notpreviously been known as Salem.

Second, in Decemberof 1805, residents ofthe new Salem petitioned the Virginia legislature to offi-
cially establishthe town, which forthree years had apparently had no official existence. In theirapplication,
they note that “a Certain James Simpson laid offa Town in his land...which said Town he designated by the
name o fSalem...” (quoted in Stoner, Seedbed o fthe Republic, page 244; italics mine). Simpson, by the
way, had leftVVirginiathe yearbefore, according to the weight o fthe evidence. The signatories o fthis petition
(which the legislature passed in January 1806) seemed to know nothing ofa Bryan connection to the name,
andno Bryan was among the petitioners.

Thisdocument, incidentally, also providesthe earliestdescription o fthe town. Only three years after
herfounding, Salem was in a “fertile part” ofBotetourt County where anumberof“proprietors have made
good buildings and settled, and sundry others are now building—which from the presentappearance must
make itin a shorttime a flourishing place—as it lies on avery eligible spotand in the midstofawealthy and
populousparto fthe said county—being atthejunction ofthe roads from yourseatofgovernmentand from the
northward leading to the western country and where the farmers and others may find a market for their
produce and be conveniently supplied with such materials asthey maybe in need o fasthere areanumberof
mechanics and some vendors ofmerchandise residenttherein.”



Third, there is some Simpson family tradition which may be relevant. Theodore Simpson, a genealo-
gist, produced amanuscriptin 1990, entitled “Some preliminary data on James Simpson, the founderof
Salem, Virginia, andrelated Simpsons.” In it, he notes a strong connection between the Simpsonname andthe
name Salem. Onebranch, it seems, canbe traced back like the Bryansto Salem,N.J. (althoughnotthe branch
affiliated with Botetourt’s James Simpson). Another Simpson lived near Salem (now M arshall) in Fauquier
County, and anotherapparently near Salem, W.Va.,where a Simpson Creek is found. W hile all this is conjec-
ture, it seems possible thatthe name Salem followsthe Simpsons. (To be fair, it shouldbe noted thatin a later
letterto Salem historian Norwood M iddleton, Theodore Simpson indicates thathe had neverheard ofthe
Bryantheory, and notes thathe did nothave “sufficientinformation to say one way orthe other.”)

W hatthen are we to deduce from this evidence? Following are the conclusions | have drawn from my
research into this matter:

1) Thereisno documentary evidenceto supportThornton W haling’s hypothesisthatthe Bryan family
named Salem.Noristhere suchapreponderance ofevidence thatitcanbe rejected outright.

2) Atthe sametime,the weightofthe early documentary evidence givesmuch more credence to the
ideathatJames Simpsonnamed his owntown.

3) Thepossibility cannotbe dismissed that someone in the Bryan family made the suggestion to
Simpsonthat Salem wouldbe agood name foranew town. Such anideawould in effectharmo-
nize the two accounts.

4) Thus, itwould seem reasonable to include both theories in future discussions and writings about
Salem’shistory asunproven possibilities.

Inthe end, we are leftto agree with M cCauley— “onthis pointtradition is silent and remain
satisfied that Salem is Salem, regardless ofthe origins o fthe name.
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Regional manuscript guide completed

Dr. CharlesBodie ofLexington has completed his draftofamanuscriptguide forthe
Roanoke and New Rivervalleys, sponsored by the History Museum and Historical Society of
W estern Virginia. Funded by agranto f$10,000 from the Virginia Foundation forthe Humanities,
thisprojectwasalso partofalargerprogram ofspeakers who explored neglected facets o fthe
region’shistory.

Dr.Bodie undertook hisresearch to locate manuscriptcollections in public repositories
pertaining to the counties o fBotetourt, Craig, Floyd, Montgomery, and Roanoke, aswell as their
municipalities. Hisworkrequired travel to scores o flibrariesaround Virginiaand among neighbor-
ing states, and to extensive searches ofinternetlibrary sites. By March 31,2002, he had compiled
a descriptive listof 1,604 collections located in 61 libraries. Among these libraries, 26 are in
Virginia.

The diverse contentofthe collections spansthe period from the colonial erato the 20th
century. The published guide, with diverse references to private correspondence, diaries, business
ledgers, legal material, maps andphotographs, will offerabundantinformationto researchers inter-
ested in fresh directions. Theseitemstouch onthe livesof people onfarms, in stores,athomes, in
schools, and inprofessionalwork. They documentthe lives o fpeople neglected by many histori-
ans, includingwomen, children, African-Americans, small farmers, and workers in extractive in-
dustries. Overall, the guide should stimulate new approachesto the region’s history, reveal new
themes, and help to fosterabetterunderstanding o fits development. Thisunderstanding, in turn,
canhelp members ofthe region’scommunitiesto address contem porary issues.

The Museum meanwhile sponsored a setofspeakersduring the secondhalfof2001 who
touched onarange ofseldom-visited topics o fSouthwestVirginiahistory, including archeological
evidence ofaboriginal settlements, aspects ofrailroad development, African-American entrepre-
neurs,and ways o fconducting family and community history.

The final step forthe Museum is to raise the necessary funding o fabout $8,000 for the
publication o fthe guideto make itavailableto individuals andto libraries as a strong additionto its
currentpublications program. Anotherideabeing explored isto also produce an on-line version

thatwill greatly increase its access. The guide willbe available inthe spring orsummero f2003.



OliverHill’sHome
May Become Human Rights Center

By George Kegley

riends and admirers ofOliver W. Hill Sr.,prominent desegregation lawyer, organized afoundationto

acquire hisboyhoodhome in NorthwestRoanoke and develop it as a centerto fosterhuman rights. Hill,

now 95 andblind, recalls his Roanoke years from 1913 to 1923 and again when he began practicing
law in 1934 in an autobiography, The Big Bang, Brown v. Board o fEducation and Beyond, published in
2000.HishomeisinRichmond.

Hillwasone ofateam ofcivil rights lawyerswhowonthe 1954 Brownv. Board o fEducation deseg-
regation suitbefore the U.S. Supreme Court. Inthe Jim Crow era, Hill’'sNAACP legal team filed more civil
rights law suits in Virginiathan were filed in any other Southern state. They led to landmark decisions on voting
rights,jury selection, accessto schoolbuses and employmentprotection.

In arecenttelephone interview, Hill said 99 percentofhisrecollections aboutRoanoke are good. He
had “awonderful time as a child” and then he came back and started his law practice in Judge Lindsay
Almond’s Hustings Courtin Roanoke.

“We’ve made awhole lotofprogress” onrace but “there isawhole lotofworkto be done, notjust
black and white in the United Statesbutinthe whole world. We need to think differently on aloto fthings,” he
said. “People are more sophisticated today. They don’t come out and say they are segregationist. They are
more subtle.”

“All segregationists need to look atthe situation from arealistic view and getoverallthis nonsense
related to skin color,” Hill once told an Associated Press reporter. “There’sno basis for thinking there’s
anything otherthan ahuman ethic. IfGodhad intended forpeopleto be defined as races and separated, we
would assume Godhad sense enough to give them differentmeans ofprocreation.”

In his autobiography, Hill said, “l arrived atthe conclusion thatitwasjustas stupidformeto hate white
people because they were white as itwas forwhite people to hate me because I wasn’t white. Consequently,
Ibegantojudge people aspeople onthe basisofmy experience with them.

LawyerHill has alifetime o faccomplishments. Afterthatlandmark legal victory almost 50 years ago,
hewaselected asRichmond’s firstblack councilmember. His awards are many: the Chicago D efender M erit,
American BarAssociation Commission on Opportunities, Walking History Millennium, Thomas Jefferson
Award for Public Service, the American College of Trial Lawyers Award for Courageous Advocacy, the
VirginiaCommission on Women and M inorities inthe Legal System, and the Freedom Fighter Award ofthe
Virginia State Conference ofNAACP branches. In Richmond, the former Juvenile andD omestic Relations
CourtBuildingwasnamed forHill. And foremost, in 1999, he receivedthe MedalofFreedom from President
BiUClinton.

OnFeb.5,2003, Virginia’s General Assembly honored Hill as this year’s Outstanding Virginian. He
wasrecognized asaVirginian “whose dedication and service are an inspiration to all civic-minded citizens.

Aftergraduating from Howard University and its law schoolin W ashington while working as a waiter
in arestaurant, Hill passedthe barexamination and in 1934 he began practicing law in Roanoke with J. Henry

George Kegley, a longtime resident of Roanoke, is a permanent director of the History Museum, and
editor of the Journal since 1968.



Claytorin an office atthe present site ofthe new parking garage forthe HigherEducation Center, nearthe
railroad. He was one offewerthan 40 black lawyers in the state.

“Inthose days,” he wrote, “mostNegro lawyers had a solo general practice. Like general medical
practice, ourgeneral legal practice required us to make house calls. People inreal serious condition needed
you to visitthem athome. | frequently wentto clients’homes to talk to them.” W hile looking forwaysto
generate income, Hilltyped chain letters and represented workers who gave him wage assignments, and some

Negro professionals gave him theirunpaid debts to collect,
buthis criminal practice was “almostentirely pro bono.”
W henthese activities failed to produce a reasonable amount
forupkeep, Hill discontinued his Roanoke practice and
returned to W ashington in June 1936. He later spentmost
ofhis careerin Richmond. He had taken many picturesof
the interior and exterior ofRoanoke County one-room
schoolsto use as evidence forcommunity education and
forlitigation.

The OliverHillFoundation was established in Octo-

ber2000 with the goal ofcarrying onthe work o fHill and
his associates in civil rights, according to Clarence M.
Dunnaville Jr., alaw partner ofHill. Its purposes are to
function as an educational and policy center forthe pro-
motion and study ofhumanrights, as well as developing
the onetime Hillhome at401 GilmerAvenue, NW, asa
centerforhumanrights.
Kay Stricklandis presidento fthe foundation. Oth-
ersonthe board are Cabell Brand, Alice Roberts and Ed
Barnett, from the Roanoke Valley; Clarence and Norine
Dunnaville and Jonathan K. Stubbs, Richmond; and Esther
Vassar, Norfolk.
Oliver Hill of Richmond, noted desegrega- The firstproject ofthe foundation was to obtain a
tion attorney, attended a reception at the grant from the Virginia Law Foundation enabling the
Transportation Mussum in Roanoks in Juns Roanoke group to sponsortwo law students as interns with
2002. (Photo by George Kegley) o " o
public interestlaw firms devotedto civil rights.

In his autobiography, TheBigBang, Hill said when
he was a child, “people in oursocial circle used to call Roanoke Tittle New York.”’Few cars were owned in
the Negro neighborhood, he said. “I noticed that each make ofcarhad a different sound. Accordingly, be-
cause ofthe scarcity ofcars and distinctive sounds, | know everybody’scarablock before I could seeit.”

His stepfather, Joseph C. Hill, operated apool parlor. “He even built a tittle stand forme to stand upon
sothatl could see overthe pooltable. He started teaching me to play billiards and pocketpool. Before he
couldteachmemuch aboutthe artofplayingbilliards or shooting pool, Virginiawentdry and that closed the
saloons and killed the neighborhood in which his pool parlorwas located. He tried to find another location.
Unfortunately, atthattime in Roanoke, the locations where a Negro could operate abusiness were very
limited. He didn’t see anything he wanted to do in Roanoke. Accordingly, he decided to go back to Hot
Springsto work. Thatterminated my career as apotential professional pool player. Who knows, thatmay
have keptme from becoming a ‘VirginiaFats.”

Asaboy, Hill lived at 401 GilmerAve. with his mother and stepfatherinthe home ofBradford and
LefiaPentecost. Inthose days, Negro children couldn’tgo to public schooluntil they were seven. People were
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work-oriented in hisboyhood days. His daily choreswere bringing in coal and wood for stoves and washing
dishes. Once a week, he had the responsibility for dusting furniture, moppingthe floor and cleaning common
areasofthe house. Hill alsoworked atan ice cream parlorwhere he was paid in ice cream for his services. The
firm was cited forviolating child labor laws.

During World Warlwhen he was 10, Hill woke up at 3 a.m. to delivernewspapers. He began selling
the New YorkExaminer on Saturday afternoons. When he walked through white neighborhoods, “I knew
thatyou hadto be very, very careful thatyou didn’t getcaughtasyoumightbe cuffed around...1fwhite boys
came along, I hadto run like hell. They would cuffme andwhenwe would catchthem in ourneighborhood, we
would cuffthem too. Itwas sortoftitfortat...Butnobody shotanybody orbroke theirarm oranything like
that. They letus know thatthey didn’t care anything about us and we letthem know that we didn’t care
anything aboutthem. Thiswas one ofthe unfortunate results o fracial segregation.”

Roanoke was arailroadtown, Hill wrote. “In our circle, practically everybody eitherran on a railroad
orworked forthe Norfolk and Western or Virginian in such capacities as cooks, waiters, porters, trainmen,
brakemen, firemen and messengers atthe main office.” Hill started at 16 as a laborerat N&W, earning 25
cents an hour for suchjobs as mixing concrete, transferring shippers’ claims from one office to another and
guiding rails to a “frog shop.” (Holes where rails were connected were called frogs.) He worked on an ice
wagon andin ashoe shine parlor. In his school days, Hill played football, baseball, basketball and shotmarbles.

Commenting onthe Negro class structure he saw in Roanoke, Hill saiditwas more democratic inthe
sense that African-American people from various social stratamingled freely. Mrs. Pentecost, his friend and
landlady, saidthatinWashington atthattime, “there was more division: akind of ‘pecking order’based upon
skin colorand economic status.”

Hillhad abriefmovie careerin Roanoke. Inthe 1920s, he said, Oscar Michaux, aprominentNegro
film producer, persuaded a group of Roanoke Negroesto investinafilm, “House Behind the Cedars,” about
middle classNegroeshere. Hillhad arole, walkingamong guests ata lawn party filmed in his frontyard, atthe
northwestcomerofGilmer Avenue and 4thStreet. In 1991, many years later, when aRichmond professor
heard ofhis movierole, Hill wasinvitedto appearatthe VirginiaFestival ofAmerican Film in Charlottesville
to discuss Oscar Michaux and his work
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What Victory May Mean:

A History of Ensign Horace A. Bass Jr., USNR,
andthe USS Horace A. Bass APD-124

By Roy C. Baugher Il

orace Ancel Bass Jr. was a Roanoke citizen who served as an aviator in the United States Naval

Reserve during the Second World War. He served as a fighterpilotin the Pacific Theater, participat

ing inthe Battle ofMidway and the Battle ofEastern Solomonsin 1942. During the Solomons battle,
Basswas declared missing in action and he was never found. He was posthumously awarded the Navy Cross
forhis actions at Midway.

Two years later, the Departmentofthe Navy announced itwould name a ship in honorofBass: the
USS HoraceA.BassAPD-124. The high-speed transport ship with her officers, crew, and embarked ser-
vicemen served the Navy from 1944 to 1959, when it was decommissioned. For its Second World War
service, HoraceA. Bass earned two battle stars and was credited with shooting down two Japanese planes
and sinking one enemy submarine. The ship earnedthe Navy Unit Commendation and six battle stars for its
extensive service during the Korean War.

Itisarare honor fora shipto be named afteraperson ofBass’srank ofensign, rarer still forthat ship
torenderdistinguished service and to gamer accolades during its career. Both the man and the ship are to be
recognized fortheir contributions to the traditions ofthe United States Navy.

Horace Ancel Bass, Jr. was bom in Roanoke on September 22, 1915. He was the first child of
Horace A. Sr. and Minnie K. Bass. Bass’s fatherworked as a draftsman in the engineering department ofthe
Norfolk & Western Railway, based in Roanoke. Aboutthree years later, his sister, Minnie King Bass, was
bom. The Bass family lived on Woods Avenue, in what isnow Roanoke’s “Old Southwest.” In the early
1920s, the family moved to Madison, North Carolinaand lived there. Bass, however, stillworked atNorfolk
& Westernin Roanoke, and he visited with his family on the weekends. The family moved back to Roanoke
eventually and lived in a house on Allison Avenue. Horace Jr. attended Jefferson High School. In his senior
year, he participated in the seniorplay, and he served on the staffofthe school’sannual, TheAcorn. Bass
graduated from Jefferson in the spring of 1933. Nextto his seniorportraitin the yearbook, he is described as
“artistic, versatile, reserved.”

Inthe autumn of 1933, Bass began studies at Roanoke College in Salem, attending for two years.
While atRoanoke, he was amemberofthe Chemical Society, SigmaDeltaPi (an academic classics fraternity),
and KappaAlpha fraternity.

Itwas around histime in high school and college that Bass developed a serious interestin art. Besides
doing artistic projects athome, he was arteditor ofthe Roanoke College annual, Rawenoch, in 1934-1935,
and he contributed pen-and-ink drawings forthat year’s edition. By 1935, Bass decided to leave Roanoke
Collegeto attend Richmond Professional Institute in Richmond, to further his studies in art. RPTwas then a
division ofthe College ofWilliam & Mary, and atthe time was the premierart school inthe state. Bass earned

Roy C. Baugher I1l, administrative assistant at the History Museum and Historical Society of Western
Virginia, was the curator of an exhibit on Ensign Horace Bass and the Navy vessel namedfor him and he
also founded an archives collection devoted to Bass, the ship and its crew. Baugher is a graduate of
Roanoke College.
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abachelor’sdegree inartfrom RPIinJune 1937.

Bassreturned to live with his family in Roanoke, and he became an artteacher at his alma mater,
Jefferson High, in the autumn of 1937. Besides teaching art classes, he was faculty advisor forthe school’s
drama setproductions, the studentnewspaper, and TheAcorn. One ofhis students, Ken Platt, remembers
Bass fondly as ateacher. Plattdid not considerhimselfavery good artist, buthe saidthat Bass had a great deal
ofpatience with him in his art class.

In 1940-1941, Bassbecame interested in aviation and learning to fly an airplane. He took flying
lessons at College Aiir Express, a flightinstruction school operating atthe Roanoke Municipal Airport. He also
became amemberand shareholderinthe Sportsmen’s
Flying Club. Members owned shares ofa Piper Cub
J2 airplane, keptatthe airport. Members would sign
up to schedule theirtime to fly the plane. Usage fees
were chargedto offset costs for fuel and maintenance.

In February 1941, Bass decided to leave his
teachingposition at Jefferson, and enlisted inthe United
States Naval Reserve with hopes ofbecoming anaval
aviator. During histenure atJefferson, Bass improved
the school’sartdepartmentby procuring new art desks,
aworktable and an airbrush painting system. He also
expandedthe artcurriculum fromjusttwo classeswhen
he began teaching, to six classes. On his lastday of
teaching at Jefferson, Bass’s fourth period art class
threw a farewell party for him, complete with a cake
bearingthe inscription “Happy Landing.”

Bass reported to the Naval Reserve Aviator
Base in Washington, D.C.in March 1941. From March
6to April 24, he underwent flighttraining atthe base.

He was appointed an aviation cadet on May 15. He
completed furthertraining atthe Naval Air Stations at
Jacksonville and Miami, Florida until late October
1941. Bass was designated officially a Naval Aviator

(Heavier Than Air) on October 27, and he received Ensign Horace A. Bass, Jr., USNR,
his commission as an ensign on November 7,1941. Roanoke, Virginia, _De_cem_ber 1941.
One month later, Japanese naval forces attacked Pearl (Photo courtesy of Minnie King Thomas)

Harbor, and the United States entered the Second

World War. Bass went on to receive aircraft carrier training when he reported to the Advanced Carrier
Training Group-Atlantic atNorfolk on January 5,1942. In March ofthatyear, he married the former Sarah S.
Miley, who was also from Roanoke.

Basswas assignedto Fighting Squadron Three (VF-3),commandedby Lieutenant Commander John
S.“Jimmy” Thach. He arrived at Kaneohe Air Station, Hawaii with six otherrookies on May 20,1942. He
and others conducted flight and gunnery exercises with the squadron’snew Grumman F4F-4 single-seat
fighterplanes, also known as “Wildcats.” By late May, VF-3 was assigned to the USS Yorktown CV-5. The
squadron consisted o f27 pilots, some ofwhom were veterans from Fighting Squadron 42 (VF-42), which had
justreturned from the Battle ofthe Coral Seain early May.

The Yorktown and her task force sailed from Pearl Harbor on May 30, two days after USS Enter-
prise CV-6 and USS Hornet CV-8 and their task forces departed Pearl. Navy Admiral Chester Nimitz
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ordered the carrier groups to meetnorth ofthe island atoll of Midway, to counter the suspected mounting
threatto the island and its important airfield and seaplane base by Japanese naval forces. In fact, four aircraft
carriertask forces under Imperial Japanese Navy Admiral Chuichi Nagumo were indeed sailing to attack
Midway.

The Battle of Midway occurred on June 4,1942. Onboard the Yorktown, Bass was assigned to the
Fourth Division o fVF-3 comprised ofsixpilots. At6:30 a.m., the 4th Division was launchedto fly the second
combatairpatrol, or CAP. They returnedto land on Yorktownby 9:25 a.m., afterthe third CAP was launched
to relieve them.

The 2nd and 4th Divisions ofVF-3 were launched at 11:50 a.m. to fly the fourth CAP. Bass and the
restofthe 4th Division were ordered straightaway to intercept “bogey,” orunidentified aircraft, contacts west
oftheirposition, about 32 miles away. The 2nd Division soonjoined them. Around noon local time, the 12
F4Fs intercepted 18 Aichi D3A1 Type 99 carrierbombers (later known as “Vais”) and six Mitsubishi A6M 2
Type 0 Model 21 carrier fighters (laterknown as “Zekes” or “Zeros™) thatwere enroute to attackthe Yorktown.
These groups ofenemy planes were from the Japanese carrier Hiryu. In defense ofthe Yorktown, Bass and
the rest ofthe fourth CAP engaged the Japanese planes. During the melee, Bass and his section leader,
Lieutenant (Junior Grade) Edward D. Mattson, USN (aveteran ofVF-42), came underattack from a VVal and
aZero. Although his plane sustained damage from several hits, Bass maintained formation and protected
Mattson from the rear, shooting down eventually both the Val and the Zero.

Type 99 bombers were still able to getthrough, and three scored hits on the Yorktown, one tearing an
11-footholein her flight deck. As aresult, portions 0fVF-3 already aloft had to land on eitherthe Enterprise
orthe Hornet. Mattson landed on the Enterprise, while Bass landed on the Hornetby 1:00 p.m. The Yorktown
suffered another attack from the Hiryu’splanes at 2:43 p.m. Japanese torpedo planes scored two hits, and the
shipbeganto listto itsport side. Efforts to repairand keep afloatthe Yorktownwere made. However, she was
attacked by the Japanese submarine 1-168, and she sank a day later on June 7.

The Battle of Midway, however, was won. Even though outnumbered, the U.S. forces were able to
sink all four ofNagumo’s aircraft carriers: Akagi, Hiryu, Kaga and Soryu, compared to the Navy’s one-
carrier loss ofthe Yorktown. After Midway, Bass and the rest o fVF-3 were ferried back to Pearl Harbor on
board the Hornet. Bass wrote in a letter to his parents that he had seen “plenty of action,” and that his
Japanese counterparts were “good fighters.” He post-scripted his letter with, “I shotdown two Jap planes.”

The North American Newspaper Alliance, though notverified, reported one interesting story about
Bass, shortly after the Battle ofMidway. The accountbegins after Bass landed on the Hornet, when those of
VF-3 could notland on the Yorktownbecause ofher damaged flight deck. Bass was lounging in one ofthe
Hornet'spilotready roomswhen he was asked ifhe could help respotairplanes on the deck. Bass agreed to
assist, and hejumped into an F4F with only his helmet. He did noteven wear his standard fife preserver. Bass
beganto taxithe plane, as directed by the deck crew. He thoughthe was heading to respotthe plane, butthe
flight deck crew stopped him atthe take-offline instead. The dispatcherthen gave Bass the hand signalto rev
the plane’sengine for launching. Bass shook his head vehemently and yelled backathim, trying to explain he
was only there to respotthe plane. The dispatchermisunderstood Bass’s protests, and gave Bass the signal to
take off. Bass obeyed grudgingly, and he took off, probably very mad and frustrated with his predicament.
However, he returned to the Hornetto land. Realizing their mistake, the flightdeck crew apologizedto Bass,
promising him thatwouldnothappen again.

Sometimes promises are notkept. Aboutan hour later, Bass assisted the flight deck crew again with
respotting planes on the flightdeck, and again, he was launched by mistake. Itwas reported that Bass was so
angry, he shotdown aJapanese Zero before he landed back on the Hornet.

Bassremained with VF-3 at Maui Naval Air Station until July 2,1942, when he was transferred to
Fighting Squadron Five (VF-5), commandedby Lieutenant Commander Leroy C. Simpler, USN. VF-5 was
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Fighting Squadrons 3, 42 and 8 aboard USS Hornet after the Battle of Midway, 10 June 1942. Bass is
kneeling infront row atfar right. (Photo courtesy of Minnie King Thomas)

assigned to USS Saratoga CV-3. The task forces ofboth the Saratoga and the Enterprise sailed from Pearl
HarboronJuly 7 toward the Solomon Islands forthe upcoming Guadalcanal Campaign, the firstcounteroffen-
sive inthe Pacific by U.S. forces.

OnJuly 11,the Saratoga and the other task forces neared crossing the equator in the vicinity ofthe
island ofPalmyra. For such amomentous occasion, every Navy ship holds atraditional ritualto initiate Jhose
who have notcrossed the equatorwhile at sea. Bass himselfwas among those uninitiated “Polliwogs” who
enduredunconventional capers from the veteran “Shellbacks.” Such antics includedphysical exercises in cold-
weatherflying suits, allinthe tropical heatonthe Saratoga’s flightdeck, andpushing shoe polishtins downthe
flightdeck with only their noses. By the next day, the carrier crossed the equator and Bass and his fellow
Polliwogsbecame Shellbacksthemselves.

The Saratoga and Enterprise then sailed south to the Fiji Islands to rendezvous with the other task
forces. OnJuly 30, Bass and others of VF-5 participated in apractice air strike and combat airpatrol exer-
cisesaroundthe Fijianisland ofKoro, where the amphibious task force practiced landing U.S. Marines onto
its beaches. Bass, being the consummate artist, captured a scene ofthat day in a color pastel drawing he
completed shortly afterwards. He titled it “We Dove on Koro Island.” The drawing shows four F4F Wildcats
practicing a strafing run; some are pulling out oftheirdives while some arejust starting theirs.

V F-5’sexerciseswere soon putinto actualuse on August7,1942. Bass andtherestofVF-5 and the
Saratoga’sair group flew constant combat air patrols, inner air patrols and ground support operations in
supportofthe FirstMarine Division’samphibious landings onthe island of Guadalcanal. The nextday, VF-5
flew CAPs around Tulagi, a small islandnorth of Guadalcanal, from noonto 1:30 p.m.

From August 9-21, the Saratoga and Enterprise refueled and maintained a presence south of
Guadalcanal while the marines were still making inroads againstthe Japanese on the island. They were then
dispatched 170 miles east ofthe island of M alatia to search for Japanese carriers coming possibly from the
north. They arrived on August 23.
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USS Horace A. Bass APD-124, San Diego, California, circa 1951-1953. Horace A. Bass garnered two
battle stars and three kills during World War Il. During the Korean War, the ship earned six battle stars
and the Navy Unit Commendation, the first U.S. Navy ship to earn the NUC of that conflict. (Original
photograph gift of Jesse Montemayor)

The Battle of Eastern Solomons occurred on August24,1942. The Saratoga and Enterprise re-
ceived word that enemy carrier task forces were indeed in the region north of Malatia. Admiral Chuichi
Nagumo again led the Japanese forces, with the carriers Ryujo, Shokaku, and Zuikaku. Around 2:30 p.m.
localtime, Nagumo had found where the Enterprise and Saratoga groups were located, from areportby a
Japanese reconnaissance seaplane. Ahalf-hour later, 27 VVal carrierbombers and 10 Zero escort fighters were
enroute from the Japanese carriers Shokaku and Zuikaku when they were spotted by Enterprise around
4:00p.m.

Bass was assigned to the VF-5 combatairpatrol division SCARLET STANDBY, with division leader
Lieutenant (Junior Grade) James C. Smith and Ensign Charles E. Eichenberger. Fighting Five divisions SCAR-
LET 6 and SCARLET STANDBY, withthree F4Fs each, were launched from Saratogato fly CAP at4:10
p.m.

At 4:38 p.m., 18 Vais with four Zeros from Shokaku and nine Vais with six Zeros from Zuikaku
deployed to attack the Enterprise and Saratoga, respectively. Atthis point, SCARLET 6 spotted this group
and entered into combatwith the enemy group attacking Saratoga. Fighting Squadron Six’s (VF-6) division
RED 4 from the Enterprisejoined VF-5’s SCARLET 6 and SCARLET 5 divisions. Within minutes the Vais
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and Zeros came under intense fire and they decided to abandon their attack on Saratoga and proceeded to
attack Enterprise, which was closer.

Around 4:43 p.m., SCARLET STANDBY, still flying CAP, entered the fray as the Vais and Zeros
headed toward the Enterprise. Moments later, both the Japanese planes and F4Fs entered withinrange ofthe
Enterprise task force’s anti-aircraft fire. Though not known exactly, itis probable that Zeros brought down
both Smithand Bassof SCARLET STANDBY. They werenotfound orrecovered afterward, and both men
were laterreported as missing in action. Eichenberger, the sole survivorof SCARLET STANDBY during the
battle, perished lateron September 12,1942 in continued fighting around Guadalcanal.

The Battle ofEastern Solomons was amaiginal, yet strategic, victory forthe U.S. Navy. The Saratoga
remained unscathed after the battle. The Enterprise, however, was hit three times from Japanese earner
bombers, but she was able to sailback to Pearl Harborunderher ownpower forrepairs. The Japanese carrier
Ryujo was at least damaged heavily or sunk, and the carriers Shokaku and Zuikaku were neutralized as a
resultoftheirairgroups being decimated.

Basswas declared missing in action afterthe battle. The Departmentofthe Navy soon sentthis word
to his wife and family. His drawing ofKoro Island, probably among his otherbelongings, was sentback to
Roanoke. OnNovember 14,1942, Bass was awarded the Navy Cross, the Navy’shighest decoration, forhis
heroism and “superb airmanship and unyielding devotion to duty” atthe Battle ofMidway. The U.S. Navy
pronounced Bass as “presumed dead” in 1943. He was awarded the Purple Heartposthumously on October
22,1943. During his service Bass also earned the American Defense Service Medal and the Asiatic-Pacific
Area Campaign Medal.

OnAugust 3,1944, the keel ofanew destroyer escort (DE) ofthe Rudderow class was laid down at
the Bethlehem Steel Fore River Shipyard in Quincy, Massachusetts. Though itwas unnamed, its hull number
was DE-691.However, during the ship’sinitial construction, the Navy decided thatthis ship wasto be con-
verted to a high-speed transport (APD) ofthe Crosley class, with the hull number APD-124. The Navy
announced on August29,1944 thatthisnew high-speedtransportwouldbe namedinhonorofEnsign Horace
A.Bass Jr. The USS HoraceA. Bass was launched and christened in a ceremony at the Bethlehem Steel
shipyard on September 12. Bass’swidow, Mrs. Sarah Miley Bass, christened the ship. Her mother, Mrs.
Martha Miley, and Bass’s parents, Mr. and Mrs. Horace A. Bass Sr., attended the ceremony as well. After-
ward, they were the guests atareception and breakfastheld atthe Neighborhood Club in Quincy, Massachu-
setts.

A high-speedtransport such asthe Horace A.Bass served as a small amphibious troop transport. The
ship’screw consisted of 12to 15 officersand up to 192 enlisted personnel. The ship’slength was 306 feet, its
beam, or width, was 37 feet, and its maximum speed was 24 knots. The Horace A. Bass could embark a
company-sized group ofMarine or Army troops, asmany as 150 enlisted and 12 officers, and all theirneces-
sary equipment, rations and ammunition. The Horace A. Basshad an enlarged superstructure deck fortroop
berthing space. Two davits were built on this deck to house the ship’s fouramphibious landing craft, usually
LCVPs (landing craft, vehicle/personnel, the famous “Higgins boats”) or LCPRs (landing craft, personnel/
ramped). These landing craftwere used to transportthe embarked troops and their equipmentto shore. A
cargo crane was placed on the aft ofthe ship, and the fantail area was used to stow troop equipment and
ammunition. Forarmament, the Horace A. Bass had one 5-inch/38 caliber enclosed dual-purpose cannon,
and40mm and 20mm guns, as well as depth charge racks.

The HoraceA. Bass entered into service ofthe U.S. Navy when the ship was commissioned on the
coldday ofDecember21,1944 at Quincy. Lieutenant Commander F. W. Kuhn was the ship’s firstcommand-
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ing officer. The ship entered the Pacific Theater during the Okinawa campaignby April 1945, and it servedin
the anti-aircraft/anti-submarine screen around Okinawa and escort convoys around Ulithi, Saipan and Guam.
TheHoraceA. Bass and her crew were credited with three “kills” during the war fortwo Japanese planes and
the Japanese submarine RO-109. Afterthe atomic bomb attacks on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, Japan capitu-
lated on August 15,1945. The HoraceA. Basswas among the ships ofthe U.S. Navy that entered Tokyo Bay
on August 29. The ship and her prize crew took over and accepted the surrender o fthe Japanese battleship
Nagato, the lastremaining battleship inthe Japanese navy, on August 30. The ship would serve inthe occupa-
tion ofJapanuntil 1946.

The HoraceA. Bass served the ensuing years in the Western Pacific. In November 1948, the ship
helpedinthe evacuationofAmerican civilians from the U.S. Embassy in Nanking to Shanghai, Chinaduringthe
Chinese Civil War. The ship served as station ship in Hong Kong in late 1949. Italso served as the flagship of
the U.S. Seventh Fleet forVice Admiral Russell Berkey on his official visitto Bangkok, Thailand in January
1950. The Horace A. Bass was the first U.S. Navy ship to visit Bangkok since 1941. For this occasion, the
Thailand governmentpresented the HoraceA. Bass with aneillo-design silverbox.

Atthe outbreak ofthe Korean WarinJune 1950, the ship was thrown immediately into service. It
transported elements ofthe First Provisional Marine Brigade from Californiato Korea. In August, the ship’s
U.S.NavyUnderwater Demolition Team One (UDT-1) and a U.S. Marine elementofReconnaissance Com-
pany, FirstMarine Division, were designatedthe Special Operations Group (SOG). From August 12-16, the
SOG performed amphibious demolitionraids againsttransportation and supply targets on the eastern coastof
the Korean peninsula. The ship also effected offshore bombardments on railroad yards, bridges, a factory and
warehouses. Inplanning the counteroffensive againstNorth Korean forces, the SOG played an importantpart
inreconnoitering alternative landing sites to thatoflnchon during August 20-25. For these operations, the
SOG was awarded the Navy Unit Commendation. The HoraceA. Bass was the only high-speed transportto
earnthis commendation inthe Korean War.

Forthe amphibious assaultatthe portcity ofInchon, the ship embarked the MarinesofH “How”
Company/3rd Battalion/5th Marines and departed Pusan, Korea on September 12,1950. The LCVPs ofthe
HoraceA. Bassputhertroops ofHow Company ashore inthe firstwave onto the island ofWolmi-Do, code-
named “Green Beach,” onthe morning of September 15. The ship then served as the landing craft control
vessel for the assault landings at “Red Beach” that afternoon, where 1stand 2nd Battalions/5th Marines
landed. The successful offensive atInchon led to the recapture ofthe capital of Seoul and put North Korean
troops in disarray, changing the course o fthe war.

In early October 1950, the ship embarked Royal Marines ofC Troop, 41 Independent Commando
fordemolitionraids along the northeastern coast of Korea. The nextmonths were spentin minesweeping
operations atWonsan and Chinnampo with UDT-1 embarked. By January 1951, the Horace A. Bass com-
pleted her firsttour ofthe Korean War.

The HoraceA. Bassreturned to the Korean Theater in late 1951. In early December, the shipem-
barked B Troop 0f41 Independent Commando Royal Marines for raids near Tanchon. From mid-April to
early May 1952, the ship carried the Special Mission Group (SMG), an assembly ofKorean partisans trained
incombat, amphibious landing, sabotage and intelligence-gathering techniques by various U.S. military advi-
sorsunderthe JointAdvisory Commission-Korea, known as JACK, ofthe Central Intelligence Agency. The
SMG conducted a series ofeightraids from the Horace A. Bass along the northeastern coastofKorea during
thistime. Later, a second series offourraids was conducted by the SMG in mid-June 1952. The ship and her
crew completed a secondtour ofduty in Koreain July, and she returned to the U.S. Ayearlaterin 1953, the
ship againreturned forathird tour ofKorea. The HoraceA. Bassbecame a flagship foranamphibious control
squadron. The ship maintained its presence inthe Western Pacific until early 1954. For its service during the
Korean War, the ship earned six battle stars, in addition to her Naval Unit Commendation.



In early 1955, the HoraceA. Bass helped in the evacuation of Chinese Nationalisttroops from the
Tachen Islands to Taiwan, and it also supported Operation Passage TvFreedom, inwhich U.S. Navy ships
assisted inthe evacuation ofVietnamese from CommunistNorth Vietnam to Saigon, South Vietnam.

In mid-1955, the ship had returned to the U.S., and was transferred from the Pacific Fleet to the
Atlantic Fleet, with its home portat Philadelphia. Forthe next three years, the Horace A. Bass served as a
Naval Reserve training ship in the waters as farnorth asNewfoundland and Nova Scotia, to as far south as the
Caribbean. In November 1958, the ship was transferred to the Atlantic Reserve Fleetat Orange, Texas, and
was decommissioned on February 9,1959. In 1969, the ship was reclassified as an amphibious transport/
small., or LPR, and she spentherlastyears asthe Horace A. Bass LPR-124 at Orange. The ship was struck
from the Naval Vessel Registry on September 15,1974, and was disposed for scrapping on July 1,1975. The
ship was sold atthe auctionprice 0f$79,002.00, and she was towed from Orange to Brownsville, Texas to be
taken apart.

The historiesofHorace A. Bass, Jr. and the USS Horace A. BassAPD-124 are foreverbonded with
each other. The heroic service and sacrifice ofone manwould inspire and lead the service o fthe ship’s officers
and crew, and those ofthe U.S. Navy Underwater Demolition Teams, U.S. Marines, Royal Marines and the
Special Missions Group that served from her decks. Nothing reflects this better than the following poem,
written by David C. Holly, who was a lieutenant and executive officer ofthe Horace A. Bass from 1949 to
1950. He wrote this poem forthe ship’s cruisebook, The Wake o fthe Horace:

A Sonnet to Ensign Horace A. Bass, USNR

Iffrom yourparadise ofFiddler’s Green,
Where pilotsin the endless setting sun

With folded wings whenthe cry ofbattle’s done,
May contemplate whatvictorymay mean—
Youventured forthto view this spray-bound scene,
Andthere among yourFleetyou cameupon

A salt-stained APD, the very one

Theynamed foryou, hero, sightunseen—

W hatthink you ofthis vagrant cockleshell;

A ferretofthe lurking deep; a guard

Toholdthe flag ‘neath Oriental cloud;

Chinese bazaar; evacuee’s hotel;

AnAVP; and Admiral’sbarge three-starred!
Proud ofyou are we! Aren’tyou as proud?
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